ALL SURVIVORS PROJECT



The Health of Male and LGBT Survivors of Conflict–Related Sexual Violence

CONTENTS

Partners	4
All Survivors Project	4
The London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine	4
Authors	4
Suggested citation:	4
List of Abbreviations	5
Executive Summary	6
Key Findings	6
Background	10
Magnitude and scope	10
Context and definitions	10
Consequences	12
Methods	14
Narrative and Realist Review	14
Workshop In London (October 2018): Building Knowledge to Improve Existing Servi	се
Responses for All Survivors	15
Experts Meeting In Geneva (March 2019): Improving Responses for Male Survivors c	of
Conflict-Related Sexual Violence	16
Review of guidelines and protocols	16
Results	17
Scope of the evidence	17
Access to care	17
Emergency Context	17
Barriers to Disclosure	19
Service Availability	20
Intervention Models and Targets	23
Sensitisation and Training of Healthcare Providers and Community Members	23
Integrated Models of Care	23
Community-based Interventions	26
Guidelines and Protocols	27
Health Interventions: rationale and implementation	28
Mental Health and Psychosocial Wellbeing	28
Physical Health	31
Sexual and Reproductive Health	33
Discussion	34
Implication of findings	34
Concluding remarks	37
References	38
Acknowledgements	51

PARTNERS

ALL SURVIVORS PROJECT

All Survivors Project (ASP) is an independent, impartial, international organisation that conducts research and advocacy and facilitates inter-disciplinary dialogue and learning to improve global responses for every victim/survivor of sexual violence including men and boys in situations of armed conflict and forced displacement. Through work with governmental and non-governmental stakeholders and with male survivors of sexual violence, ASP seeks to ensure that conflict-related sexual violence is prevented and that the rights of all victims/ survivors, including men and boys, are fulfilled, and the dignity of all survivors is respected and protected.

THE LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

The London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) is renowned for its research, postgraduate studies and continuing education in public and global health. The School has an international presence and collaborative ethos and is uniquely placed to help shape health policy and translate research findings into tangible impact. The School has a mission to improve health and health equity in the UK and worldwide; working in partnership to achieve excellence in public and global health research, education and translation of knowledge into policy and practice.

AUTHORS

Ligia Kiss Meaghen Quinlan-Davidson Patricia Ollé Tejero Laura Pasquero Charu Lata Hogg Cathy Zimmerman

Suggested citation:

Kiss L, Quinlan-Davidson M, Ollé Tejero P, Pasquero L, Hogg C, Zimmerman C. The health of male and LGBT survivors of conflict-related sexual violence. All Survivors Project, 2020.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASP	All Survivors Project				
BADT	Behavioural Activation Treatment for Depression				
CAR	Central African Republic				
CBT	Cognitive-Based Therapy				
CETA	Common Elements Treatment Approach				
СРТ	Cognitive Processing Therapy				
CRSV	Conflict-Related Sexual Violence				
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo				
EMDR	Eye Movement Sensitisation and Reprocessing				
EMDR-IGTP	EMDR Integrative Group Treatment Protocol				
GBV	Gender-Based Violence				
IDPs	Internally Displaced Persons				
ЮМ	International Organization for Migration				
IRC	International Rescue Committee				
LGBT	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and other gender non-conforming individuals				
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine				
MHPSS	Mental Health and Psychosocial Support				
MSF	Médecins Sans Frontières				
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation				
PTSD	Post Traumatic Stress Disorder				
SDC	Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation				
SGBV	Sexual and Gender-Based Violence				
STIs	Sexually Transmitted Infections				
TII	Trauma-informed Intervention				
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund				
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees				
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund				
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime				
WHO	World Health Organisation				

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

KEY FINDINGS

- Weak and sparse evidence base for intervention development and evaluation;
- No studies on interventions targeting men, boy and LGBT survivors specifically and explicitly;
- No evaluations of interventions addressing physical health, sexual and reproductive health and medico-legal responses;
- De-contextualised findings of many impact evaluations on mental health;
- Studies conducted only in a few countries;
- Most interventions are single sector approaches, but flexible and comprehensive models are valued.

Conflict-related-sexual-violence (CRSV) against women and girls has received increasing attention globally. At the same time, less is known about men, boys and LGBT persons who suffer CRSV. Research estimates that, in some context, the magnitude of CRSV against men and boys is extremely high, with prevalence rates ranging from 32.6% in Liberia to 21% in Sri Lanka. The health and social consequences of CRSV for the lives of men, boys and LGBT persons are severe and long-lasting. CRSV against men, boys and LGBT persons is largely motivated by gendered expression of domination and control. Despite the severe health and social burden associated with CRSV, evidence on interventions addressing the health and wellbeing of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV remains scarce, and limited resources and support are available to target their needs.

This report addresses these gaps by summarising and expanding on key findings from a forthcoming realist review by the authors on health interventions for men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV. The review was preceded by a first workshop with key international stakeholders (London, 11-12 October 2018) to identify parameters and scope of a conceptual framework on responses for male and LGBT survivors in conflict and displacement settings. Findings from the realist review were complemented with results from a second experts meeting (Geneva, 5 March 2019) with international stakeholders and a rapid review of medical and mental health guidelines and protocols for assisting survivors of sexual violence. This report aims to contribute to the growing field of research, intervention development and implementation on CRSV against men, boys and LGBT persons.

A systematic approach was used to identify evaluations of interventions addressing the medical and mental health of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV. To inform a theory of change for interventions responding to the health needs of survivors, the review then used a purposive approach to explore gender differences in implementation, mechanisms of change and outcomes of interventions.

We did not find any evaluation of interventions that specifically and explicitly targeted the needs of male or LGBT survivors of CRSV. Most studies we identified were on Mental Health and Psychosocial support (MHPSS) interventions. Although some interventions identified in our systematic search included male participants, the results were not disaggregated by gender. No studies evaluated interventions that explicitly included LGBT participants.

This report uses the umbrella term LGBT to include a number of groups defined by diverse sexual orientations and gender identities. Our analysis focussed on sexual minority men and transgender people, though studies which present data disaggregated by the categories within the LGBT concept, remain extremely limited. Therefore, our review does not provide a basis for conclusions about each of these groups individually.

The results of our rapid review of international guidelines and protocols also suggests that the specific needs and vulnerabilities of male and LGBT survivors still receive limited attention in international documents guiding policy and practice. Although CRSV against male and LGBT survivors have been increasingly recognised in these documents, most still do not provide specific recommendations on how to design and implement interventions that respond to the specific needs and concerns of these populations.

Evidence on the implementation, evaluation and effectiveness of these guidelines is also sparse. In our literature review, we found only one pilot evaluation of implemented guidelines on CRSV that offered promising results.

Our literature review found that **access and continuity of care** are deeply affected by insecurity, population mobility, limited infrastructure, gender and social norms, and restricted financial and human resources. In settings where the nature and duration of the conflict are particularly severe, health systems are largely affected or inexistent. In many settings, the presence of armed groups hinders dislocation from home to the nearest point of care both for clients and providers and affects home visits. Looting and pillage of health facilities may also reduce adherence by forcing clients to travel further to seek care. This politically fragile and resource limited context affects how priorities are defined in the policy agenda, and the availability, acceptability and quality of services. Interventions that rely on community-based models of care may provide valuable alternatives to access and treatment for all survivors.

Community-based interventions can also tackle common barriers in access to care for male and LGBT survivors, including lack of knowledge about existing services, the belief that available services only provide care for women and girls, or uneasiness to access services. The review identified different interventions aiming to facilitate survivors' access to services, although none reported specific strategies to engage male or LGBT survivors. Strategies to improve access to care included training community leaders, core groups and "counsellor mothers"; relying in internet-based treatment and local service networks; implementing home visits, mobile clinics and one-stop strategies.

Strategies that rely on community-based organisations and resources, and on faith-based organisations, have been promoted as a feasible and cost-effective way to reach vulnerable populations in fragile settings. However, there are limited evaluations of how community-based and faith-based components may foster awareness, help-seeking behaviours and social inclusion among male and LGBT survivors of CRSV. Researchers have also expressed concerns in relation to tension between specific religious agendas and core values of the rights-based policy framework.

Access to care for survivors of CRSV is also affected by lack of **services preparedness** to respond to the needs of male and LGBT survivors. Research has suggested that the fear of negative reactions, such as homophobia, disbelief, and blame from the police or health providers may prevent male survivors from disclosing sexual abuse and accessing timely services. Negative attitudes by providers are likely to reinforce survivors' self-blame, prevent adherence to treatment and prevent recovery. Research also suggests that in some contexts less sympathy is displayed by providers in relation to male survivors when compared to female survivors. LGBT survivors are also more likely to be blamed than those who do not identify as such.

Our review identified three studies of interventions that provided training and sensitisation to health care providers. These interventions targeted both community health workers and clinical personnel. Results from these evaluations were mixed, indicating that more studies are needed.

Key stakeholders in the field recognise the need for **inter-sectoral and integrated models of care** for survivors of CRSV. Key links identified in our review as important for health responses to CRSV were education and health; protection and MHPSS; physical and mental health; basic needs and mental health; and medico-legal assistance, justice and accountability. However, evidence on the feasibility and effectiveness of these strategic links in different contexts is still missing. One study in our review highlighted the challenges of coordinating different sectors in poorly resourced settings. We did not find data specifically addressing male and LGBT needs.

Findings from evaluations of **Mental Health and Psychosocial Support (MHPSS) interventions** that included men and boys reported effectiveness in reducing symptoms of depression, anxiety, PTSD, dysfunction or post-traumatic grief. No data on effect-size by gender were published in these studies. Therefore, we cannot determine whether the interventions were equally effective for women and men, or whether they were effective at all for male survivors. This gap in knowledge is particularly important in light of the gender differences in access,

uptake and response to psychological or mental health treatments. Research has indicated that men employ riskier coping strategies, are often less successful in resolving trauma and may find it difficult to share their experiences and emotions. These barriers to interventions' effectiveness are probably linked to gender differences in motivation, commitment and responses to psychological treatment.

Additionally, in contexts of humanitarian emergencies, the access and effectiveness of mental health interventions depends on the basic needs of survivors being addressed. For example, mental health is unlikely to be prioritised by survivors who are struggling to feed themselves or find shelter. At the same time, mental health can deteriorate if these needs are not met. Factors such as poverty and armed conflict may act as daily stressors in the lives of CRSV survivors, and can further hinder access to basic health services, compromising positive mental health outcomes.

Initiatives on **sexual and reproductive health** often focus exclusively on women and girls and refrain from targeting men. However, male and LGBT survivors of CRSV may experience, as a result of the violence, sexually transmitted infections (STIs) including HIV, sexual dysfunctions, genital infections, impotence and infertility among other impacts. These potential health consequences affect not only individual survivors, but their partners, families and communities. To date, no review, including ours, has identified interventions addressing the long-lasting impact of CRSV on the sexual and reproductive health of men, boys and LGBT survivors. Nonetheless, male involvement is fundamental for the prevention of STIs and HIV.

There is some evidence supporting HIV and STI education, and condom distribution campaigns in conflict settings. However, to date there is no data on how male and LGBT involvement can help prevention, and even less on targeted initiatives for survivors. Evidence on fertility and reproductive assistance for male survivors of CRSV is also missing.

To our knowledge, our review was the first systematic realist review investigating medical and MHPSS interventions for male, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV. We identified many evidence gaps on interventions for male survivors of CRSV, including the absence of: studies including LGBT survivors; results disaggregated by gender; studies on physical health, sexual and reproductive health and medico-legal and forensic responses including male and LGBT survivors. Studies including male survivors also had a limited geographical scope. Moreover, there is an age gap in knowledge about CRSV. In the literature, girls and boys are often mentioned in conjunction with women and men respectively, but data disaggregated by age is rarely presented.

The almost exclusive focus of research and policy on heterosexual cis-women's risk obscures the experience of men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV. The neglect of male and LGBT needs may further enhance health and protection risks among these groups. It is therefore critical for researchers, policymakers, providers and other key stakeholders to recognise that the needs of male and LGBT survivors are real and require attention.

BACKGROUND

MAGNITUDE AND SCOPE

Gender-based violence (GBV) against women and girls in conflict situations has gained sustained attention by international organisations, governments, organised civil society and celebrities in the past two decades. This attention was translated into campaigns, policies, guidelines, research and interventions to address survivors' health and protection needs.

Although progress has been achieved as a result of these initiatives, considerable gaps persist in knowledge and assistance to survivors of CRSV. Importantly, little is known currently about men, boys and LGBT people's specific vulnerabilities to sexual violence in conflict and their health needs (Apperley, 2015; Myrttinen, 2017; Myrttinen, 2018; Dolan, 2014; Carpenter, 2006; Priddy, 2014; Garcia-Moreno, 2014; Krugg, 2002; Grey & Shepherd, 2012).

Estimates on the magnitude of CRSV are difficult to obtain both because of underreporting by survivors and restrictions of access to affected populations (United Nations, 2019). Even though current reports affirm that CRSV affects women and girls disproportionately (Goodley, 2019), data indicates that, in some contexts, the magnitude of CRSV against men and boys is also extremely high. For example, a survey in Liberia found that 32.6% of male former combatants experienced sexual violence (Johnson et al., 2008). In the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), 23.6% of men interviewed in another survey reported CRSV (Johnson et al., 2010). In a survey of key countries neighbouring Syria, 19.5 to 27% of male respondents reported sexual harassment or unwanted sexual contact as boys (Chynoweth, 2017b). Evidence from Sri Lanka shows that 21% of detained men experienced sexual abuse, of whom 7% reported electric shocks to their genitals and 5% were raped (Peel et al., 2000).

To our knowledge, data on the prevalence of CRSV against LGBT persons is not available.

CONTEXT AND DEFINITIONS

Anal rape has received more attention than other forms of sexual violence against men, but this is only one of many forms of male sexual assault (Carlson, 2006). Acts of sexual violence against men and boys also include oral rape, gang rape, enforced sterilisation, mutilation, castration, blunt trauma to the genitals, forced nudity, forced sexual acts against another person or oneself, and forced witnessing of sexual violence against family members or peers (Sivakumaran, 2007; Apperley, 2015; Carlson, 2005; Dolan, 2014; Onyango, 2011). These abuses can occur in many settings, including detention centres, military sites, refugee camps and people's homes during and after conflict (Gorris, 2016). Recent reports indicate that CRSV against men and boys occurs primarily in villages and detention facilities (United Nations, 2019).

CRSV against men and boys has often been recognised as torture, mutilation or degrading treatment (Sivakumaran, 2007; Carpenter, 2006; Priddy, 2014), but the gendered aspects of these abuses are often not recognised (Carpenter, 2006). Nonetheless, gender is a central aspect of CRSV against men, women and LGBT people (Priddy, 2014; Sivakumaran, 2007, Dolan, 2016; Myrttinen et al., 2017; Myrttinen, 2018; Javaid, 2014). Some of the reasons why men sexually abuse other men are similar to the reasons why they target women: to humiliate, impose domination, power and control (Javaid, 2014; Loncar et al., 2010). Gender stereotypes that motivate these abuses rest on the notion that men and boys are emasculated and feminised as a result of sexual violence (Sivakumaran, 2007; Myrttinen et al., 2017). Violence against LGBT persons in conflict settings is also often motivated by homophobic and transphobic attitudes (Dolan, 2016; Myrttinen et al., 2017).

CRSV can be used as a form of torture aiming to inflict psychological suffering, terrorise, humiliate, disempower and break down the identity of perceived enemies or political prisoners (Apperley, 2015; Carlson, 2005). This form of conflict-related violence is known as *militarised sexual violence* (Spangaro et al., 2013) and has been used for torture and interrogation, for initiation into military or paramilitary forces, to destabilise families, terrorise communities, hinder social cohesion, and to perpetrate ethnic cleansing (Onyango, 2011). The use of this type of violence has been internationally recognised as a strategic "weapon of war" symbolising conquest and degradation of enemies (Krug et al., 2002). The UN recognises sexual violence as an essential component in the political economy of terrorism (United Nations, 2019). These forms of sexual violence often occur jointly with other crimes, such as killing, looting, pillage, forced displacement and arbitrary detention (United Nations, 2017). Impunity for perpetrators is usually the norm (Priddy, 2014).

Sexual abuse against men, boys and LGBT people can also be opportunistic or used as punishment in paramilitary trainings (ASP, 2018b). Opportunistic sexual exploitation has been widely noted among the rising number of male unaccompanied minors fleeing from conflict zones, and cases have been documented among asylum-seekers in the Mediterranean region and Europe, in Central America and in Southeast Asia (Chynoweth, 2017a; Freccero et al., 2017). Some factors that increase the vulnerability of asylum seekers and refugees are scarce employment opportunities, inadequate access to protection and support services, lack of access to food and basic supplies, loss of family and community support mechanisms (Freccero et al., 2017). Additionally, age can also heighten risks of sexual abuse in conflict settings, with recent reports noting a trend on sexual violence against very young girls and boys in countries such as Afghanistan, Burundi, the Central African Republic (CAR), the DRC, Myanmar, Somalia, South Sudan, Sri Lanka, the Sudan (Darfur) and Yemen. Unaccompanied child migrant refugees and asylum seekers are particularly vulnerable to this type of abuse (United Nations, 2019).

It is often impossible to determine intentions behind specific acts of sexual violence, and therefore the distinction between militarised and opportunistic sexual violence in conflict is blurred (Spangaro et al., 2013).

In addition, reports of sexual abuse by peacekeepers and humanitarian staff have been widespread in the recent past (House of Commons, 2018), calling attention to the vulnerability of local populations in conflict-affected settings, where resources are scarce, and insecurity is paramount. The precarious situation of local and displaced communities leads to a heightening effect on power differentials between aid providers and receivers. Refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs) report sexual violence by state authorities, armed groups, smugglers, traffickers and other agents who control access to resources in humanitarian contexts (United Nations, 2019). In the recent past, reports have graphically illustrated how providers relied on privileged access to resources to demand or negotiate sexual favours from local populations in crisis affected settings (Spangaro et al., 2013). The majority of reported survivors from this type of violence are girls, but there is some evidence that boys have also been exposed to sexual abuse by peacekeepers and humanitarian staff. Boys have, however, certainly remained virtually invisible in public debates about sexual abuse by this type of agents (House of Commons, 2018). LGBT individuals, especially transgender and intersex, persons are considered particularly vulnerable to sexual exploitation and sexual violence by security forces in barracks, police stations, prisons, detention centres, refugee and IDP camps and border facilities (Myrttinen et al., 2017).

CONSEQUENCES

CRSV is associated with severe and long-lasting health and social burden, including mental health disorders, sexual and reproductive health problems and physical health symptoms. Figure 1 describes some common health and social consequences of CRSV.

Mental health disorders and symptoms	Negative emotions and antisocial behavior	Reproductive and sexual health	Physical health symptoms
 post-traumatic stress disorders depression anxiety disorder self-harm suicidal behaviour impaired memory and concentration sleep problems nightmares cognitive impairment 	 alcohol and drug abuse low self-esteem difficulty engaging in intimate relationships anger outbursts explosive rage hostility emotional withdrawal detachment apathy helplessness fear stigma self-blame 	 sexually transmitted infections HIV infertility sexual dysfunction genital infections genital injuries unwanted pregnancies 	 abcesses and rupture of the rectum diarrhea loss of body parts chronic pain somatic disorders palpitation headaches

Figure 4 Commence Is		and a start and a		and a start of with CDCV
Figure I. Common n	ieaith consequences	, social ana e	emotional problems	associated with CRSV

Sexual violence is stigmatising for all survivors in most cultures, often casting a permanent taint on their perceived dignity and honour (McGlynn et al., 2019). Social norms related to gender, sexuality, and emotion regulation and expression influence the reactions from survivors and their social network, including: how much others are allowed to know, to which extent they should give credit to the reports, how should they accept these reports; and what they mean to the social identity of survivors and to their communities. Male survivors often "retreat into themselves" and feel unable to fulfil family and community expectations (Myrttinen et al., 2016). Sexual violence can happen behind closed doors and survivors can often prefer not to disclose or report it. Perpetrators of opportunistic sexual violence will likely abide by this tacit rule. On the other hand, the perpetrators of *militarised sexual violence* often seek some publicity of their acts locally, in line with the aim of humiliating and terrorising individuals, their families and communities (Spangaro et al.; 2013; Henry, 2015).

The GBV guidelines (GBV AoR, 2015) highlight the following types of GBV against LGBT individuals:

- Social exclusion;
- Sexual assault;
- Sexual exploitation and abuse;
- Domestic violence (e.g. violence against LGBT children by their caretakers);
- Denial of services;
- Harassment/sexual harassment;
- Rape expressly used to punish lesbians for their sexual orientation.

Furthermore, these guidelines suggest that people with disabilities, among other groups, are at increased risk of GBV. Research on intersectional vulnerabilities is, however, virtually absent for men, boys and LGBT people.

In post-conflict settings, LGBT people often experience harassment and need to hide their sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, and sex characteristics. Abuse and violence by security agents, local community members and other asylum seekers or refugees is common (United Nations, 2019; House of Commons, 2018). Exclusion from economic opportunities or from access to services may also occur as a result of negative attitudes associated with LGBT status (Myrttinen et al., 2017; UNICEF, 2015). They may also be targeted for 'honour killings' (Banwell, 2018).

In spite of its high magnitude in some contexts and devastating consequences, there continues to be very limited evidence on how interventions work for men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV. Three reviews of the literature on CRSV and interventions targeting survivors were conducted in the past (Spangaro et al., 2015; Hossain et al., 2013; Tol et al., 2013). However, male and LGBT survivors were not explicitly considered in these publications due to the lack of specific quantitative studies on these groups. This report builds on this body of knowledge

and on our own recent realist review on health interventions for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV (Kiss et al., 2020) to examine how health interventions may work (or not) for men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV.

METHODS

NARRATIVE AND REALIST REVIEW

This report is based on an extensive narrative review of academic and grey literature, guidelines and protocols on GBV, and on input from a workshop with key stakeholders in the field. It also summarises the key results from a realist review of the literature on medical and MHPSS care for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV. We conducted the work described in this report aiming to understand how, why, and in what circumstances medical and MHPSS interventions can improve the physical and mental health outcomes among male and LGBT survivors of CRSV.

We used a realist approach in our review aiming to unpack how complex interventions work and complement the answer to the question of *what works* about particular interventions, addressed by systematic reviews, with information about *what works for whom and under which circumstances* (Pawson et al., 2005). We used the RAMSES quality standard for realist reviews to guide our methods (Wong et al., 2013).

The research questions that guided the review were:

- What are the **mechanisms** by which medical and psychosocial interventions may improve the health of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV?
- What are the aspects of **intervention design and delivery** which influence whether the different mechanisms lead to an improvement in health including mental health?
- What are the relevant **contextual and individual characteristics** that influence whether health is improved because of interventions?
- What are the potential **unintended** outcomes, risks or adverse consequences of interventions?
- What are the **key knowledge gaps** that need to be addressed to enable more successful design and implementation of health and psychosocial interventions for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV?

Our realist review comprised four main steps:

- 1. Systematic search of the relevant literature, including reference search of relevant systematic reviews and grey literature;
- 2. Identification of underlying theories and mechanisms;
- 3. Identification of relevant evidence to refine intervention theories;
- 4. Summary of main findings and implications for interventions design and implementation.

In this report, we will not present the detailed methods and findings of the realist review. We will only summarise key findings from this review and expand on the discussion of these findings aiming to inform research, policy and interventions on CRSV against men, boys and LGBT people.

WORKSHOP IN LONDON (OCTOBER 2018): Building Knowledge to Improve Existing Service Responses for All Survivors

A first international workshop was co-organised by LSHTM and ASP in London, UK on 11-12 October 2018 with 22 representatives from Gender-Based Violence (GBV) AoR, Child Protection (CP) AoR; United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF); United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) at headquarters and country (Turkey) levels; the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) both at headquarters and country (CAR and Turkey) levels; World Health Organisation (WHO); Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF); the Afghan NGO Youth and Health Development Organisation (YHDO); the University of St. Andrews, London; the Havens, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC) and the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) as an observer.

The objectives of the workshop were to: (i) Share research findings from the research conducted by ASP so far on CRSV against men and boys and LGBT people in different contexts; (ii) Examine the available responses for survivors in CAR, Turkey and Afghanistan and deepen understanding of the barriers and good practices for male and LGBT survivors in each context; (iii) Develop a consensus on parameters and scope of a conceptual framework on responses for male and LGBT survivors in conflict and displacement settings. The workshop was conceived as the first step in a multi-staged process, which included the realist review and a second experts meeting in Geneva (below).

The workshop catalysed a widespread acknowledgment of the importance of this problem and a determined commitment by all stakeholders to address this issue. It was also a conducive context for a collective and constructive process of discussion and information sharing which fed into developing the conceptual framework and theory of change, further illustrated in this report.

EXPERTS MEETING IN GENEVA (MARCH 2019): Improving Responses for Male Survivors of Conflict-Related Sexual Violence

A second workshop was held on 5 March 2019 in Geneva, Switzerland with representatives from the UNHCR; the UNFPA at headquarters and country (Turkey) levels; WHO; International Rescue Committee (IRC); International Organisation for Migration (IOM) in CAR; The Havens, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, and MSF. The objectives of the workshop were to: (i) share findings from the realist review and draft conceptual framework; (ii) seek guidance and critiques from key international stakeholders; and (iii) present a synopsis and agreement on next steps.

We specifically sought feedback to refine the research questions and theory, identify further resources and aid the interpretation of emerging findings. Notes from the meeting and participant feedback were analysed and integrated in this report.

One of the outcomes from the meeting was to conduct a guideline and protocol review, which will be explained in further detail below. The argument for the guidelines and protocols review was that within the field of CRSV, there was not a consistent practice to evaluate interventions. As such, experts from the meeting recommended investigating policymakers' and providers' assessments from their experiences in the field.

REVIEW OF GUIDELINES AND PROTOCOLS

A rapid review of forty-nine existing international guidelines, protocols manuals and other documentation (hereby referred to generally as "guidelines") providing guidance on medical and MHPSS responses for survivors of sexual violence including in crisis was carried out, based on the recommendations from experts at the Geneva expert meeting and searches of relevant websites.

The aim of this rapid review was to assess to what extent and in what contexts the existing guidance on medical and MHPSS responses for survivors of sexual violence, explicitly or specifically address men, boys, and LGBT survivors in conflict settings within guidelines, protocols, manuals and other documentation from international and inter-agency organisations and policy experts.

Publicly-available guidelines that were from UN agencies or inter-agency organisations, and focussed on medical and/or MHPSS and included or addressed sexual and GBV (to any extent) were included, as well as those that addressed other sectors such as such as GBV or child protection, and included medical or MHPSS components or were linked to medical and/or MHPSS. In the case where several editions of the same guideline existed, these were analysed to identify the changes from one edition to the next. Exclusion criteria included: regional and national guidelines; guidelines published by other international or national non-governmental organisations; and guidelines that were internal or unpublished.

The guidelines and protocols were identified through websites and experts' suggestions. The sites we searched included WHO, Global Protection Cluster (GPC), GBV and CP AoR, UNHCR, UNFPA, UNICEF, IRC, and the Inter-Agency Working Group on Reproductive Health in Crises (IAWG) among others.

RESULTS

SCOPE OF THE EVIDENCE

None of the studies we identified in the systematic review of CRSV interventions evaluations presented gender disaggregated data. Therefore, we were unable to draw any conclusions on the effectiveness of interventions on male survivors of CRSV. Additionally, the geographical scope of existing intervention research is restricted to a few countries and is not representative of the contextual diversity of affected settings. Experts who participated in our workshop called for attention to the lack of research on male and LGBT survivors of CRSV, associated with a very limited number of services providing assistance to these groups.

The results of our rapid review of guidelines and protocols also suggest that the specific needs, vulnerabilities and concerns of male and LGBT survivors have received increasing attention in international documents guiding policy and practice in the field, but are coupled with still limited guidance and recommendations on operationalising adequate responses for these individuals and groups.

ACCESS TO CARE

Emergency Context

Access to and continuity of care in conflict and displacement settings is affected *inter alia* by insecurity, population mobility, limited infrastructure, and restricted financial and human resources (Warren et al., 2015).

Insecurity is an important barrier to treatment access and uptake for any survivor, including men, boys and LGBT people (Bolton et al., 2014a; Bass et al., 2016; Weiss et al., 2015; Loko Roka et al., 2014; Bolton et al., 2014b; Bernath et al., 2013; Kohli et al., 2013). Among men who receive care, many do not follow up treatment and have interrupted treatments at each stage of the assistance process (Apperley, 2015). Reasons for this high loss to follow-up may include lack of time, return to home country or community, insecurity, unavailability of transport, lack of resources and death (Bolton and colleagues, 2014b; Bernath et al., 2013; Mbeya et al., 2018; Weiss et al., 2015; Loko Roka et al., 2014).

Fragile and conflict-affected countries often have the weakest health systems (Martineau, 2017). When in place, health systems may be particularly affected in settings where the extension and brutality of conflicts are particularly severe (Ahmad et al., 2018; Bennett et al., 2017; Bass et al., 2016; Weiss et al., 2015; Wagner et al., 2012; Loko Roka et al., 2014). In these settings, looting and pillage of health services may force people to travel further to seek care. Armed groups and individuals often threaten the safety of health services' clients and survivors and prevent home visits by health workers (Mbeya et al., 2018; Weiss et al., 2015; Loko Roka et al., 2014). In these contexts of limited service provision, the expectation of community members of the quality of care is often also low.

Figure 2 proposes an ecological model describing different levels in which health systems function and associated issues that may affect service provision in conflict settings.



Figure 2. Health systems' organisational levels of service provision: an ecological model.

At the macro structure level, the politically fragile and resource limited context has an important influence in shaping the political agenda and setting priorities. The interplay of local interests with international funding schemes and political agendas influences how much resources are dedicated to the prevention and assistance of CRSV, and whether there is a policy specifically targeting male and LGBT survivors. The effectiveness of providers' training on responding to needs of male and LGBT survivors is likely affected by the prevailing cultural norms and by the organisational culture as well as resource allocation, staffing level and capabilities, and turn-over. The translation of training content into practices will also depend on the health teams' and staff buy-in and their competing priorities. The relationship of providers with the community and with service users are likely to affect disclosure of CRSV by survivors, referral follow-up and adherence to treatment. The design of health system interventions for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV needs to take into account the interplay of factors between each of these levels. Additionally, interventions will need to be adaptable to the specific needs and barriers to care of different types of conflict-affected settings and populations (e.g. camp-like, urban and rural dispersed) (Spiegel et al., 2010).

Barriers to Disclosure

Most barriers to disclosure of CRSV are common among female, male and LGBT survivors of CRSV and include fear of retaliation, lack of protection, concerns about being abandoned by family and friends, and stigma (Bennett et al., 2017; Kohli et al., 2013; Mbeya, 2018; Bennett et al., 2017).

Among men and boys, barriers may be associated with specific reactions related to confusion, guilt or self-blame around their sexuality (Monteith et al., 2019; ASP, 2017). Misconceptions and prejudices about sexual violence against men and boys are common (Forde & Duvvury, 2016; Davies, 2000; Gold et al., 2007; Davies & Rogers, 2006; WHO, 2003) and include:

- sex is the primary motivation for rape;
- men cannot be raped;
- "real" men can defend themselves against rape;
- women cannot sexually assault men;
- men are not affected by rape;
- male rape only happens in prisons;
- sexual assault by someone of the same sex causes homosexuality;
- male rapists and their victims tend to be homosexuals;
- homosexual and bisexual individuals deserve to be assaulted;
- if a male survivor physically responds to an assault, he must have wanted it;
- homosexual individuals are to blame for the assault.

These beliefs are anchored in traditional masculine norms that reinforce strength, assertiveness, sexual dominance and heterosexuality (Davies, 2000). Conversely, these norms assign a subordinate status to homosexuality, particularly male homosexuality, since homosexuality is associated with feminisation, subordination and victimisation (Turchik & Edwards, 2012; Bullock et al., 2011; Carlson, 2005; Davies, 2002; Javaid, 2018). Male survivors often embody notions of "broken" masculinities that hinder their self-esteem and contribute to the fear, stigma and silence associated with sexual violence against both heterosexual and gay men (Javaid, 2018; Turchik & Edwards, 2012). This silence can worsen depression and PTSD symptoms and prevent male survivors from actively seeking help (Gold et al., 2007). These rape myths are often shared within the survivors' community, contributing to perpetuate the invisibility of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV (Turchik & Edwards, 2012; Bullock et al., 2011; Carlson, 2005; Davies, 2002; Davies, 2002).

Additionally, experts in our London workshop and Geneva meeting called attention to the perception of some men, including sexual and gender minorities among them, that accessing available services may put themselves at risk. This perception is corroborated by research in

Lebanon, where Syrian LGBT refugees were often unwilling to access services fearing that their sexual orientation or gender identity could be revealed to other refugees (Sivakumaran, 2007).

Service Availability

Additional barrier to the provision of and access to care for men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV is the lack of available specialised assistance, resources and training (Chynoweth, 2017). Barriers reported by providers include lack of capacity to respond to the needs of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV, discomfort and limited experience and knowledge in treating these populations (Chynoweth, 2017).

Furthermore, providers may harbour some of the prejudices and misconceptions listed above. For example, Chynoweth and colleagues (2017a) report some negative reactions from health providers participating in a post-rape care training who laughed about the topic and showed disbelief regarding the possibility of men being raped. Both for men and women, providers sometimes blame survivors for the abuse and question the credibility of their reports (Smith et al., 2013). More context-specific studies on the implementation and effectiveness of sensitisation, awareness raising and capacity building among health providers are needed.

Male and LGBT survivors may not know about services or think they target only women and girls (Apperley, 2015; Chynoweth, 2017b; Chynoweth, 2017a). When the only services available are female-oriented, male and LGBT survivors may be uncomfortable accessing care, as was identified by organisations working in Iraq, Jordan and Lebanon, and by a study among Syrian refugees in Lebanon (Chynoweth, 2018; Sivakumaran, 2007).

Services provided to male and LGBT survivors may not be designed to enable disclosure by them and meet their specific needs (Chynoweth, 2017). Men and boys may be discouraged to seek care by the perception of health services, particularly offering sexual and reproductive health services, as feminised spaces (Myrttinen et al., 2017). Indeed, research from high income countries has found that, overall, men are less likely to seek mental and physical health care services (Galdas et al., 2005; Seidler et al., 2016). Delaying provision of or access to health care services not only reduces the effectiveness of post-rape medical interventions, but also increases risks related to externalising behaviour such as antisocial behaviour, substance abuse and suicidal behaviour (Haegerich & Hall, 2011; Donne et al., 2018). These behaviours are more common among men than women (Teram et al., 2006; Romano & DeLuca, 2001; Rosenfield, 2000). In conflict settings, seeking help can be further delayed by imprisonment, detention and escape (ASP, 2018b).

Moreover, in many conflict-affected countries, men who experience sexual violence are not protected by the national legislation and, in some, they are criminalised when reporting abuse (Dolan, 2014). Men and boys' inclinations to report sexual violence are further decreased in these contexts, where they can risk incrimination and legal procedures as a result of a denounce (Forde & Duvvury, 2016).

Research has found that some male survivors of CRSV may prefer to have a same-sex provider (Murray et al., 2014; Chynoweth, 2017). This preference may complicate the logistics of service provision for survivors of CRSV, especially when considering universal access to care (Murray et al., 2014).

In their realist review of interventions targeting female survivors of CRSV, Spangaro and colleagues (2015) identified five mechanisms that underpin interventions from a survivor's perspective:

- there is help for this problem;
- services are acceptable and feasible;
- it is safe to tell;
- we can work together to address this problem;
- we have our own ways of dealing with this problem.

These conditions correspond to a sequence of motivations, expectations and choices that the authors identified as necessary conditions for female CRSV survivors' access to care. Women and girls need to be willing to access services, accept them, disclose their experiences, trust providers and trust their proposed model of care in order to seek care, engage and adhere to proposed health interventions that are culturally relevant (Spangaro et al., 2015). Figure 3 describes the mechanisms underpinning survivors' access to services based on the work by Spangaro and colleagues (2015) and illustrates how services and interventions may relate to these mechanisms.





Interventions involving community awareness, sensitisation and mobilisation may help survivors recognise that they have problems associated with their experience of CRSV and inform them that: there is help for this problem; services are acceptable and accessible; and it is safe to tell providers. Media campaigns, such as information on the radio, and social media can also play this role. In addition, sensitisation of providers can foster the recognition that there is help available for survivors, that services are acceptable and accessible and that it is safe to tell. Conversely, when survivors consider that they have their own ways of dealing with the problem, the use of survivor-centred approaches to design community-based interventions can help make care more acceptable and accessible. A gender-sensitive approach that considers the specific issues and needs of male and LGBT survivors in each of these stages could improve access and adherence to care.

Interventions that promote access to services for survivors of sexual violence in different contexts include training on health and psychosocial care of community leaders or core groups (Bennett et al., 2017; Loko Roka et al., 2014), involvement of local organisations (Bolton and colleagues, 2014b), internet-based technology (Wagner et al., 2012), home-visits (Kohli et al., 2013), mobile clinics (Kohli et al., 2012) and one-stop strategies (Roka et al., 2014). The authors emphasise that all such interventions remain highly context specific. Evaluations of these interventions showed positive results in health outcomes but have not necessarily reported improvements in accessibility. One evaluation reported the challenges of patients' accessibility to the specialised referral network (Kohli et al., 2013).

One-stop strategies may be a potential solution to overcome privacy and confidentiality barriers associated with CRSV. It is not clear, however, whether this strategy is effective at maintaining confidentiality, how male clients' perception of care is impacted, and whether it influences continuity of care (Roka et al., 2014). Furthermore, one challenge to one-stop strategies is being able to address psychosocial and mental health needs of survivors without referral to a specialised network.

The review found four studies that focussed on psychological treatments and included male participants (Bolton et al., 2014a; Bass et al., 2016; Weiss et al., 2016; Bolton et al., 2014b). However, these studies did not investigate accessibility and acceptability of interventions among participants. Health interventions in conflict affected settings would benefit from comprehensive process evaluations, focussing on:

- recruitment of participants;
- delivery strategies;
- mechanisms of change;
- barriers and enablers of adherence to treatments and interventions;
- potential unintended outcomes.

INTERVENTION MODELS AND TARGETS

Sensitisation and Training of Healthcare Providers and Community Members

Provider sensitisation, training on how to care for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV, and service norms and models of care will influence survivors' self-referral and disclosure of CRSV. Male and LGBT survivors who fear they could be met with blame, homophobia, and scepticism from police and healthcare providers will be less likely to seek for help (Davies, 2000; Smith et al., 2013; Chynoweth, 2017). Ultimately, providers' negative perceptions, beliefs or attitudes towards male survivors of CRSV contribute to perpetuate the stigma and silence around the problem (Dolan, 2014; Davies, 2002; Smith et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2007).

Research indicates that providers often hold negative beliefs about heterosexual and homosexual male survivors of sexual violence and are less compassionate towards these groups when compared to women and girls (Davies, 2000; Javaid, 2018; Davies & Rogers, 2006). For LGBT survivors more generally, in comparison to their heterosexual counterparts, they experience greater blame for the assault (Davies, 2000; Gold et al., 2007). These negative attitudes by providers are likely to hinder the recovery of survivors (Davies, 2002; Herek et al., 1999).

We identified a few interventions that promoted sensitisation, awareness and training on survivors of CRSV to improve knowledge and attitudes of healthcare providers (Bass et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2013; IRC, 2012; Naimer et al., 2017; Mishori et al., 2017; Tanabe et al., 2013). Results from the evaluation of these interventions were mixed with some studies showing that some healthcare providers continued to hold negative beliefs, blaming, and questioning the credibility of survivors after the training while other studies showed improvement in knowledge and rights-based practices.

Integrated Models of Care

Researchers and key stakeholders in the field recognise the need for survivor-centred, intersectoral and integrated models of care for survivors of CRSV (for example, IASC, 2015; UNHCR, 2003; Freccero et al., 2011; Greene et al., 2018; Tol et al., 2015; Wessels, 2008; ASP, 2018b; WHO, 2003). Survivor-centred models of care propose the integration of actions from diverse sectors prioritising the rights, needs and wishes of survivors. Sectors involved in the assistance of CRSV include: food and shelter; physical and mental health; medico-legal and forensic evidence; education; child protection; livelihood; nutrition; protection and justice; housing, land and property; police; and camp coordination and management (IASC, 2015; Freccero et al., 2011; Greene et al., 2018; WHO, 2003; WHO, 2015). Findings from our review highlighted the following links:

Education and MHPSS assistance. The education sector can facilitate the access of children and adolescent survivors of CRSV to health care and provide brief MHPSS interventions to students. According to Greene and colleagues (2018), interventions integrating education and MHPSS assistance include actions to:

- strengthen coping strategies;
- disseminate information related to survival and protection;
- train teachers to identify mental health and psychosocial needs of students;
- manage mild behavioural problems.

Schools can be used as an effective setting to reach survivors of CRSV, address their needs and facilitate their access to specific services. One school-based study in Palestine investigated the effectiveness of a trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy intervention for students, delivered by trained counsellors. Students that participated in the therapy were significantly less likely to display symptoms of posttraumatic stress, depression, traumatic grief, negative school impact, and mental health difficulties in comparison to those students who did not participate (Barron et al., 2013).

Protection and MHPSS. CRSV is an important protection as well as health issue. Data on a protection intervention that integrated MHPSS into its services for female refugees from the DRC who survived intimate partner violence (IPV) suggested this to be a feasible model. The intervention used Cognitive Processing Therapy to help participants recognise and change their thinking associated with their experience of severe trauma. Negative thinking (e.g. self-blame, feelings of worthlessness) is related to worse mental health outcomes (Trick et al., 2016). The protection component of the intervention included safety planning and advocacy, including group discussions on empowerment, coping and support methods. This component was delivered by protection staff in the refugee camp. The trial concluded that with partners' ownership and buy-in, intersectoral integration was possible (Greene et al., 2018). Similar models targeting CRSV among males, females or LGBT persons have not been evaluated.

Media, police and health. In certain contexts, community participation, media and police collaborations could be potentially beneficial for survivors of CRSV (IASC, 2015; Dolan, 2014). For example, Bernath and colleagues (2013) described training of police officers on how to use standard operating procedures for the prevention and handling of sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV) cases in Rwanda. The police also annually held a national GBV week to raise awareness among the community about GBV and how to deal with it. However, issues around male and LGBT survivors were not explicitly mentioned. Specific concerns about stigmatisation, safety and protection of male and LGBT survivors need to be considered (Bernath et al., 2013).

Physical and mental health. The integration of physical and mental health provision has been advocated in both high and low resource settings. Greene and colleagues (2018) highlight the

benefits of integrating screening and brief interventions into primary health care services as a way to:

- identify people in need of referral to specialised services;
- prevent mental disorders among people with sub-syndromal symptoms;
- increase awareness about mental health and the consequences of displacement and disaster;
- reduce the stigma commonly associated with seeking mental health services by delivering care in neutral settings;
- improve outcomes for a variety of chronic and infectious diseases.

Basic needs and mental health. Within humanitarian emergencies, meeting the basic needs of survivors is priority. Survivors who cannot feed themselves or find safe shelter are unlikely to prioritise mental health (Mbeya et al., 2018). At the same time, when these needs are not met, survivors' mental health can deteriorate (Greene et al., 2018). Poverty and armed conflict are daily stressors for CRSV survivors in humanitarian emergencies. As such, access to basic health services may be blocked, influencing survivors' mental health and wellbeing (Pacichana-Quinayáz et al., 2016). However, MHPSS support should not be viewed as a "second-tier operation", postponed until basic survival needs are met. In emergencies, the psychosocial shocks experienced by survivors are not secondary to material losses (Wessels, 2008). Our review did not find evaluations of interventions addressing basic needs alongside physical or mental health interventions. However, the need for food assistance and income generating activities was discussed in a study (Mbeya et al., 2018) in CAR, which found that the disruption of basic services was a significant barrier to the effectiveness of mental health interventions.

Medico-legal assistance, justice and accountability. Medico-legal evidence of sexual violence is at the intersection of the medical and justice processes. The implementation of effective medico-legal responses requires the coordination between a range of sectors, including health services, social services, forensic medicine, forensic lab services, police/ investigation, and the legal system, including lawyers and judges. Guidelines from the WHO and the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) recommend that in conflict-affected settings, concentrated efforts should also be directed to coordination between national and international organisations, including the United Nations and potentially international criminal tribunals (WHO, 2015).

Challenges. There are challenges to the implementation of integrated and intersectoral care. The allocation of resources is usually siloed in humanitarian emergencies and overcoming coordination challenges requires engagement from all sectors involved (Greene et al., 2018). Furthermore, the use of different terminology, definitions and frameworks has historically hindered coordination between sectors and agencies. However, the construction of common approaches and tools has increased through practical, concrete steps and an active avoidance of theoretically contentious issues, a direction clearly demonstrated between the 2007 and 2015 IASC guidelines (Tol et al., 2015). Evaluations of processes and effectiveness of integrated and intersectoral interventions that take into account the specific needs, vulnerabilities and realities of male and LGBT CRSV survivors are needed.

Community-based Interventions

Community sensitisation, awareness and involvement are important strategies to overcome stigma and discrimination against CRSV survivors, which is a major barrier for survivors' access to healthcare (Loko Roka et al., 2014; Bennett et al., 2017; Mooren et al., 2013; Bernath et al., 2013; Kohli et al., 2012).

Community-based interventions that rely on community leaders, organisations, core groups and other resources have been used in conflict settings to:

- promote awareness of health issues;
- identify survivors;
- motivate survivors to seek help;
- provide information on services;
- facilitate access to care;
- relay information about the consequences of not seeking services, and about legal and protection issues;
- make referrals to medical, legal, and socioeconomic services;
- manage feelings of survivors' guilt.

Our review identified three evaluations of community-based interventions that included men. These interventions relied on different communication strategies, including street drama, theatre (Loko Roka et al., 2014), radio programmes (Mooren et al., 2003), information brochures, TV broadcasts, and talk show interviews (Bernath et al., 2013).

Culturally embedded responses seem to offer promising avenues to address the mental health and psychosocial needs of survivors by building on shared meanings of suffering that can help individuals process trauma. For example, girls and boys who were part of the Lord's Resistance Army in Uganda benefited from an intervention based on local Acholi traditional rituals performed by community elders. These rituals promoted practices of reconciliation and reintegration to reduce girls' and boys' feelings of shame and guilt associated with both violence perpetration and victimisation (Olak, 2006; Spangaro et al., 2013).

Organisations working on the ground with male and LGBT survivors in Iraq, Jordan and Lebanon recommend integrating CRSV against men, boys and LGBT into traditional GBV interventions, such as community awareness raising around sexual violence (Chynoweth, 2018). Survivor-centred approaches and feasibility testing are recommended to prevent unintended harm among male and LGBT survivors of CRSV.

Faith-based and community organisations have also been engaged in interventions to promote the health of survivors of CRSV. For example, in the DRC faith-based organisations were involved in addressing stigma among survivors, informing them about available services, and providing basic psychosocial support (Bennett et al., 2017). Indeed, strategies that rely on community-based organisations, key resources and faith-based organisations have been promoted as a feasible and cost-effective way to reach vulnerable populations in fragile and low resource settings (GBV AoR, 2015). Nonetheless, researchers point out potential existing tension between specific religious agendas and core values of the rights-based policy agenda (Pyles, 2007; Tomkins et al., 2015).

Guidelines and Protocols

Participants in the Geneva expert meeting highlighted the centrality of protocols, guidelines and grey literature in the production and dissemination of knowledge about CRSV prevention and response. International guidelines have indeed been central to coordinating the efforts by different agencies in the humanitarian field and created some consensus around practices to prevent and respond to CRSV (Tol et al., 2015; Wessels & van Ommeren, 2008).

The results of our rapid review confirm stakeholders' perception that indeed the amount of published international guidelines, protocols and other documentation guiding policies and practice seem to exceed the volume of academic publications in the field. However, both in the grey and academic literatures, the information on male and LGBT survivors' specific vulnerabilities, needs, risks and barriers and enablers for their access to healthcare and MHPSS remains limited.

That said, there has been an increasing recognition of male and LGBT survivors of sexual violence over the years, a growing acknowledgement that there is a need to design recommendations to address male and LGBT survivors of sexual violence and increasing guidance on how to manage and respond to cases of sexual violence perpetrated against men, boys and persons who identify as LGBT and better tailor medical and MHPSS services and responses for these groups. For example, UNHCR and the Refugee Law Project (2012) have outlined how to address male survivors needs, within inclusive sexual violence programmes that target women and girls as well. In addition, UNHCR developed a document in 2011 to address the needs of LGBT survivors of sexual violence (UNHCR, 2011). At the same time, care and service provision for males and LGBT survivors have been addressed in other guidelines (WHO, 2003; WHO et al., 2004; UNICEF and IRC, 2012; UNFPA, 2015; UNHCR, 2012; GBVIMS Steering Committee, 2017 among others). We also found that subsequent editions of guidelines from the GBV AoR, UNHCR and IAWG have increasingly called on considering intersectoral actions to respond to male and LGBT survivors (GBV AoR 2005 and 2015; IAWG 2010 and 2018; UNHCR 1995 and 2003).

Yet evidence on the implementation, evaluation and effectiveness of these guidelines is sparse. In the literature review, we found one study that implemented guidelines (Tanabe et

al., 2013). The authors assessed the safety of implementing the WHO's Clinical Management of Rape Survivors at the community level, with mainly positive results on the knowledge and awareness of community health workers. The authors recognised, however, the challenges in implementing multi-sectoral approaches, as recommended by most GBV international guidelines, in poorly resourced settings.

Evidence gaps. Ours and other reviews in the field (Tol et al., 2015; Blanchet et al., 2017), noted several gaps in the evidence on MHPSS interventions, particularly for men and LGBT survivors of CRSV, including the lack of:

- data disaggregated by gender and age;
- interventions targeting LGBT survivors;
- evaluation on integrated or intersectoral models of care;
- process data in intervention evaluations;
- evidence on interventions to reduce alcohol and substance misuse;
- data on interventions employing faith-based and community resources;
- evidence on how interventions influence individuals' overall functioning (in contrast to specific mental health disorders);
- interventions using different modes of delivery (e.g. primary health setting, home visits, mobile clinics).

HEALTH INTERVENTIONS: RATIONALE AND IMPLEMENTATION

Mental Health and Psychosocial Well-being

Psychological and social consequences. The costs of sexual violence on mental health can be severe and lifelong (IASC, 2005). Symptoms and behavioural responses associated with sexual torture, sexual trauma and sexual violence includes: alcohol and drug abuse, impaired memory and concentration, low self-esteem, difficulty relating to others, difficulty engaging in intimate relationships, anger outbursts, explosive rage, poor emotional regulation and anger, depression, emotional withdraw, hopelessness, detachment, lack of adherence to family life, IPV perpetration, violence against children (VAC), self-mutilation, suicidal behaviour, sleep disturbances, nightmares, apathy, helplessness and cognitive impairment (Van der Kolk, 2014; Turner, 1990; Apperley, 2015; Dolan, 2014; Loncar et al., 2010; Krugg, 2002).

These symptoms are manifested among female survivors as well. However, anxiety and depression are more common among female survivors, while male survivors tend to display externalising behaviours, such as antisocial behaviour and substance abuse, more often (Teram et al., 2006; Romano & DeLuca, 2001; Rosenfield, 2000). In addition, male survivors may be particularly concerned about their masculinity, sexual orientation, opinions of other

people, not being able to prevent the abuse, and re-victimisation (WHO, 2003; Davies, 2000; Forde & Duvvury, 2016).

Families and communities are also affected by sexual violence. Due to the stigma, families may reject or abandon survivors (Apperley, 2015; UNHCR, 2012). This can lead to isolation and disruption of family life (WHO, 2003). Similar reactions from the community can happen against male survivors (ASP, 2018), negatively affecting their recovery and economic survival (UNHCR, 2012; Apperley, 2015).

LGBT survivors of sexual violence may face not only an increased vulnerability associated with their sexual orientation and gender identity, but also feel they need to hide their sexual orientation as a way to protect themselves from violence (Garnet, 1990; Myrttinen et al., 2017). This can also impact mental health symptoms (Garnets et al., 1990).

Exposure to sexual violence during childhood and adolescence often results in severe consequences to the mental health of survivors and may lead to impaired cognitive, emotional and social development (Tol et al., 2015).

Evidence on childhood sexual abuse suggests that male survivors have a hard time coping with sexual violence and resolving the trauma associated with the abuse. They are more likely to display aggressive behaviour, risky sexual behaviour and suicidal behaviour than female survivors. Substance abuse is also a common way for male survivors to cope with the trauma (Forde & Duvury, 2016). This type of coping mechanisms often replaces positive strategies such as access to specialised services and contribute to the invisibility and silence around sexual violence against men and boys.

Mental Health and psychosocial interventions. Historically, the MHPSS-humanitarian field has experienced a deep divide that still persists to date in a more nuanced form. On one side of the argument are those who favour a more holistic approach focussing on comprehensive primary care provision and addressing the social determinants of mental health. On the other side, are those who believe priority should be given to biomedical approaches focussing on the treatment of mental disorders. This conflict has been tackled mainly through inter-agency efforts to build consensus around practical guidelines and concrete steps starting with the 2007 IASC Guidelines on Mental Health and Psychosocial Support in Emergency Settings. Geneva: IASC, 2007 (Wessels & van Ommeren, 2006; Tol et al., 2015; Jong et al., 2015). Participants in our workshops seemed to mostly favour holistic approaches that included different sources of support to promote psychosocial well-being and survivors' functioning beyond medical classifications of symptomatology. Nonetheless, findings from our review confirm that the dividing line between mental health and psychosocial approaches is sometimes blurred and, in reality, interventions do not fall clearly within one versus the other paradigm (Tol et al., 2015; Blanchet et al., 2017).

According to a review by Tol et al., (2014), the five most common interventions reported in humanitarian settings are: individual basic counselling (39%); facilitation of community

support of vulnerable individuals (23%); provision of child-friendly spaces (21%); support for community-initiated social support (21%); and basic counselling for groups and families (20%) (Tol et al., 2014).

The interventions identified in our review did not reflect this distribution. Instead, many evaluations that included male participants focussed on psychological treatments, including:

- Behavioural Activation Treatment for Depression (BADT);
- Cognitive Processing Therapy (CPT);
- Trauma-informed intervention (TII);
- Common Elements Treatment Approach (CETA).

Findings from evaluations of treatments that included men and boys reported effectiveness in reducing symptoms of depression, anxiety, PTSD, dysfunction and post-traumatic grief (Bolton et al., 2014a; Bolton et al., 2014b; Bass et al., 2016; Weiss et al., 2015). However, results from these evaluations were not disaggregated by gender.

Evidence suggests that group therapy has positive effects on mental health of female survivors of CRSV (Bass et al., 2013; Lekskes et al., 2007; Allon, 2015; Walstrom et al., 2013; Manneschmidt et al., 2009). Evaluation of different models of group therapy targeting female survivors of CRSV reported improvements in:

- PTSD symptoms, and combined depression and anxiety symptoms (Bass et al., 2013);
- Disturbance levels related to trauma (Allon, 2015);
- Social capital (Hall et al., 2014);
- Group membership and participation, and emotional support (Hall et al., 2014);
- Safety perception, social functioning, mental and physical health, self-esteem and self-efficacy (Walstrom et al., 2013);
- Decrease in shame and stigma, and a greater understanding of the importance of medication and treatment adherence (Walstrom et al., 2013);
- Mood and behaviour, social skills, family interactions, and handling stress and making decisions (Manneschmidt et al., 2009).

These promising results cannot, however, be automatically generalised to male and LGBT survivors. Despite the potential benefits of group therapy, male survivors may find it difficult to share their personal stories in a group (Rapsey et al., 2017). Research also suggests that therapeutic groups with male survivors of sexual violence may have particular gendered dynamics in which anger, fantasies of retribution and drive to isolation can be prominent features (Friedman, 1994). Specific studies on the effectiveness of group therapy for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV are needed.

For psychosocial interventions, there is limited evidence on the most effective components to improve mental health and social wellbeing. However, there is evidence that interventions promoting social connectedness, safety, and security can improve mental health as among female CRSV survivors (Hall et al., 2014; Walstrom et al., 2013; O'Callaghan et al., 2013; Manneschmidt et al., 2009).

Gender differences on MHPSS treatment effectiveness. Motivation, commitment and response to psychological treatments differ by gender (Grubbs et al., 2015). Research on gender and access to mental health assistance suggests that men are less likely to seek assistance and engage in treatment than women (Alison et al.,1992; Forde & Duvvury, 2017). Male survivors of sexual violence are more likely to respond with anger, aggression, risk behaviours and hyper masculinity (Cason et al., 2002; Street & Dardis, 2018; Friedman, 1994). They also often close-up and deny what happened (Krumm et al., 2017; Forde & Duvvury, 2017).

Women often show greater improvements associated with mental health treatments (Felminham, 2012; Wade et al., 2016; Voelke et al., 2015). These differences have been attributed to the gender socialisation and women's increased reliance on social support, greater inclination to seek for help, less sensitiveness to mental health stigma, enhanced willingness to talk about problems and openness to stronger therapeutic alliances (Cason et al., 2002; Street & Dardis, 2018; Johnson, 2010).

Physical Health

The physical health consequences of sexual violence against men and boys include genital injuries, blood in stools, incontinence, abscesses, fissures and rupture of the rectum, diarrhoea, acute abrasions of the penis, scrotum or perineum, full or partial castration, significant anal dilatation or scarring and chronic pain, (Apperley, 2015; Oosterhoff, 2004; Turner, 1990; WHO, 2003; Garnets et al., 1990; Chynoweth et al., 2017a). Non-genital and rectal injuries may include bruises and contusions, lacerations, ligature marks to ankles, wrists and neck and pattern injuries (handprints, finger marks, belt marks, bite marks), palpitations, headaches and somatisation (WHO, 2003; Chynoweth et al., 2017a).

Our review has found no evaluations on the treatment of any of these symptoms. A recent systematic review of interventions in humanitarian settings found 46 studies on injury and rehabilitation (Blanchet et al., 2017). However, our review of these studies found none that addressed injuries or rehabilitation associated to CRSV among female, male or LGBT survivors.

Although there is extremely scarce data on the physical health of male survivors of CRSV, there are important indications that their physical health needs remain largely unaddressed because of the reasons discussed above (e.g. underreporting by survivors, lack of identification by providers, unpreparedness of providers, lack of or limited resources and infrastructure). As a result, survivors are likely to experience long-term severe symptoms that may affect their wellbeing, relationships, and social and economic integration. For example, some injuries

such as rectal trauma may require specialised surgery to reduce pain and malodorous leakage. However, reparative surgery may not be available in conflict-affected settings, or referral systems may not be established. Incontinence, sexual dysfunction and genital scarring may also go unnoticed by providers who tend to focus on anal rape (Chynoweth et al., 2017a). Further evidence on access, implementation and effectiveness of physical health responses to CRSV against boys, men and LGBT persons is urgently needed.

Forensic and medico-legal care are important in the offer of STI treatment and HIV prophylaxis and to facilitate survivors' access to protection, justice and other accountability mechanisms. The documentation of cases by medical staff can also inform policies and interventions by providing estimates of CRSV (WHO, 2003). However, there is very limited evidence on the proportion of survivors who seek redress mechanisms after receiving forensic and medicolegal care, and on the effect of protection and accountability on the mental health, social wellbeing and integration of survivors. Moreover, the effectiveness of forensic and medicolegal care depends on the existence of a working justice system, legal support and access to care in the conflict-setting, which cannot be taken for granted.

Our review identified one intervention seeking to improve the links between medico-legal services and protection mechanisms. This intervention relied on a smartphone application to assist health professionals conducting medical exams in sexual violence cases. The app combines a custom-designed medical intake form for forensic documentation with a secure mobile camera for forensic photography. Clinicians can use the app to compile medical evidence, photograph survivors' injuries, and securely transmit the data to their lawenforcement counterparts who may be located at a police station many kilometres away. This tool includes sophisticated encryption, cloud data storage, and tamper-proof metadata. Nonetheless, the authors recognise the significant technological, ethical and safeguarding threats posed by collection and transfer of sensitive electronic data (Naimer et al., 2017). However, at the same time, a participant in our workshop recognised similar ethical and safeguarding threats in one site where advanced technology for data collection was completely absent. As an example, this participant referred to a situation where the paper-based forensic evidence for a case of CRSV was not properly stored and disappeared from the service facilities. This is a reminder that risks to CRSV survivors can result both from failures in interventions' design and/or from their poor implementation.

Evidence gaps. Specific guidelines addressing the health needs of survivors are starting to be developed (El Kak, 2015). However, many gaps in knowledge remain unaddressed, for instance:

- effective outreach strategy for health care provision to male and LGBT survivors of CRSV;
- interventions addressing physical sequelae of CRSV against men, boys and LGBT persons;
- results of sensitisation and training of health providers on male and LGBT survivors' specific needs;

- primary research to inform tailoring of existing protocol and guidance to male and LGBT survivors of CRSV;
- access to and effectiveness of forensic and medico-legal interventions;
- use of new secure technologies to facilitate referrals.

Sexual and Reproductive Health

Male and LGBT CRSV survivors may experience STIs including HIV, infertility, sexual dysfunctions, genital infections, impotence and infertility (Apperley, 2015; Oosterhoff, 2004; Turner, 1990; WHO, 2003; Garnets et al., 1990; Chynoweth et al., 2017a). These health consequences have devastating effects not only on individual survivors, but on their partners, families and communities. To date, no reviews, including ours, have identified interventions addressing the long-lasting impact of CRSV on the sexual and reproductive health of men, boys and LGBT survivors.

Initiatives on sexual and reproductive health often focus exclusively on women and girls and refrain from targeting men and boys. Nonetheless, male involvement is fundamental in the prevention of STIs and HIV (Varga, 2001). Furthermore, gender norms blaming and ostracising male survivors of CRSV can be harmful to men, women, boys, girls and their families. Changes in those norms require sensitisation, engagement and buy-in from men and boys, as well as women and girls (Ruane et al., 2018).

There is some evidence supporting HIV and STI education and condom distribution campaigns in conflict settings (Warren et al., 2015). However, there is no data on how male and LGBT involvement can help prevention, and even less on targeted initiatives on survivors on CRSV.

Additionally, fertility and reproduction can be an area of concern for male survivors of CRSV and their partners. Consequences of CRSV against men may include infertility, sexual dysfunction and castration or partial castration, all of which may affect reproductive outcomes. Evidence on culturally appropriate and effective interventions for male, gay and transgender survivors is missing.

Gaps in evidence. Our review, along with a systematic review on sexual and reproductive health in humanitarian settings (Blanchet & Roberts, 2015), recognise that crucial evidence is needed in the field, including:

- evidence collected with survivor-centred approaches;
- interventions addressing the needs of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV;
- evidence on the needs of particular groups of survivors (e.g. people with disabilities, adolescents);
- the effectiveness, feasibility and acceptability of new technologies;
- availability, acceptability and use of sexual and reproductive health services.

DISCUSSION

IMPLICATION OF FINDINGS

To date, the health of men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV has received limited attention by researchers and the international community. As a result, we have restricted information on what models of care could work better to respond to the specific needs of this population. Most existing evidence about interventions that targeted men as well as women was from evaluations of MHPSS interventions. However, because data was not disaggregated by gender, we could not draw any conclusions on the effectiveness and mechanisms of these initiatives. We identified no evaluation of interventions addressing the physical health of survivors, or that were relevant to the sexual and reproductive health of male and LGBT survivors of CRSV.

This limited evidence could be partially due to the more recent focus on men, boys and LGBT persons when compared to research and policy on female survivors of CRSV (Dolan et al., 2014; UN, 2018). Political agendas and priorities may drive humanitarian responses in politically fragile, insecure and resource-limited settings. This could be dependent on policy timing, other policies and local actors (ODI, 2001; McGoldrick, 2016). With increased recognition of widespread and systematic CRSV experienced by men, boys and LGBT persons in many conflict-affected settings (Dolan, 2014; Johnson, 2008; Johnson, 2010; Chynoweth, 2017), the time is now ripe for investments in evidence-building and intervention development and evaluation that addresses the needs of all survivors, independent of gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or other sex or gender differences.

These investments, however, need to take into account the specificities of experiences, needs and expectations between different groups of survivors. Research suggests that there are important gender differences on how men, boys and LGBT survivors experience the trauma of sexual violence, access services and respond to interventions. For example, negative coping mechanisms such as antisocial behaviours, anger outbursts, aggression, self-mutilation, alcohol and drug abuse, risky sexual behaviour and suicidal behaviour tend to manifest more often among men than women (Forde & Duvvury, 2017; Street & Dardis, 2018; Kessler et al., 1995; Romano et al., 2001; Rosenfield, 2000; Teram et al., 2006; Donne et al., 2018; Haerich & Hall, 2011; Liang et al., 2017). These coping strategies can bring devastating consequences for survivors, their families and communities. These differences should be taken into account when designing research or developing and implementing health intervention that target these different groups.

Community resources and frontline workers are in a strategic position to respond to the needs of CRSV survivors. They can receive self-referrals, recognise cases, offer intersectoral referrals and provide assistance (Russell et al., 2011; Chynoweth, 2017a; Dolan, 2014; Gruber et al., 2018). However, they need to be aware and have the knowledge to deal with the specific needs of male and LGBT survivors (Davies, 2000). Primary health care providers and health professionals in refugee settings should also be sensitised and capable of responding to the

physical and mental health needs of men, boys and LGBT persons (ASP, 2018; Chynoweth, 2018). Women, girls, boys, and young men are all vulnerable to sexual violence, especially when during conflict or when they are fleeing these situations (Chynoweth, 2017a; Freccero et al., 2017; Hemono et al, 2018). It is also important that the health providers are alert to symptoms of CRSV and know how to link with other sectors to protect survivors.

Figure 4 proposes a high-level theory of change summarising interventions and models of care identified in our realist review of the literature. This framework was modified based on a critical review by experts and practitioners who participated in our Geneva expert meeting.



Figure 4. High-level theory of change for provision of health services in conflict-affect settings based on a realist review of health interventions for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV.

This framework is a general articulation of interventions' mechanisms as identified in our review. It summarises the rationale underpinning current interventions addressing the health of CRSV survivors, particularly emphasising issues relevant to male and LGBT survivors. This framework also lists main assumptions around mechanisms and outcomes, as described by the sparse body of evidence identified in our study. It can serve as a basis for developing context-specific theories of change based on input by potential service users and implementers but should not be interpreted as representing definitive pathways to effective service provision, which are inevitably context-specific.

The context of cultural and social norms affects how survivors, communities, and providers perceive and react to CRSV against women and girls as well as men, boys and LGBT persons

and available sources of help. Sometimes, local communities and stakeholders have specific understandings of violence, mental suffering and healing and can resist models of care developed or implemented by international organisations (McGoldrick, 2015; Spangaro, 2017; M'Cormack, 2018). Engaging local stakeholders and community influencers through sensitisation and awareness can help increase acceptability of interventions and inform their design, planning and implementation (Mbeya et al., 2018; Bennett et al., 2017; Loko Roka et al., 2014; Kohli et al., 2012). Moreover, relying on local resources may help design more feasible of interventions in contexts where funding, resourced and infrastructure are limited (Murray et al., 2014). Indeed, local practices, concerns, health infrastructure and social norms around CRSV against men, boys and LGBT are likely to vary in different conflict-affected settings. The interventions that mobilised social resources, used street drama or theatre, or relied on faithbased organisations were mostly designed for and used by women and girls. Faith-based organisations can be an important source of support in the access to and provision of health care (Tomkins et al., 2015). Nevertheless, disagreements between religion and health promotion should be considered in the design and implementation of faith-based models of care (Pyles, 2007; Tomkins et al., 2015). For example, controversies surrounding the religious treatment of homosexuality may prevent universal care targeting all survivors, and particularly the LGBT population (Tomkins et al., 2015).

In our review, we did not identify any models of sensitisation and awareness about CRSV that were designed for male and LGBT survivors of CRSV, or that took their voices and specific needs into account. Interventions targeting male and male and LGBT survivors need to be informed by evidence and understanding of the local culture to avoid causing harm to survivors.

Future studies should explore how men, boys and LGBT survivors interact (or not) with interventions, and whether the fact that they are generally designed for female survivors tend to push other groups away. Participatory research can help design, implement and disseminate research that is of higher quality, and is relevant and appropriate to each context. This type of approach also promotes more targeted research, stakeholders' ownership and capacity-building (Cargo & Mercer, 2008).

Supporting partners and families of male and LGBT survivors with services and treatment is important as well (Davies, 2000). As Coates (1979) stated the "partner's own grief may severely interfere with any support that the victim may need at this time".

International guidelines for the prevention and response to survivors of CRSV have been developed by UN agencies, inter-agency bodies and international NGOs. Both in our review and in consultation with experts, there was acknowledgment of the role and importance of these guidelines, protocols, and documents. They are considered instrumental in establishing consensus in the field around concrete actions and promoting best practices. Our review of medical and MHPSS guidelines developed by main international agencies found that attention to specific needs of men, boys and LGBT survivors of CRSV is increasing but still remains limited. Monitoring and evaluation approaches that access the implementation and
effectiveness of these guidelines in different contexts, and for diverse target groups, including men, boys and LGBT individuals can inform more inclusive models of care.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The review found that there is a gap in the evidence on the provision of healthcare services to male and LGBT survivors of CRSV. To inform gender-appropriate and effective medical and MHPSS responses, further research needs to be conducted on these population groups.

The focus on male and LGBT survivors of sexual violence should not deviate attention, resources or otherwise negatively impact from the serious and pervasive problem of sexual violence against women and girls in conflict settings (Apperley, 2015; Myrttinen, 2018; Carlson, 2005). Instead, all survivors should have the right to receive assistance, regardless of their age, gender, sexual orientation or gender identity. This review was intended to inform health care models that go beyond binary constructions of gender to help create services that address the needs of all survivors.

Research and policies focussing only on heterosexual cis-women's risk to, and consequences of, CRSV restrict awareness and responses to the needs of male and LGBT survivors (Banwell, 2018; Hilhorst, 2018). This could expose these survivors, their families and communities to further health risks, and long-lasting social and economic problems (Arsenijević et al., 2018). With increasing attention to CRSV against men, boys and LGBT persons, the development and implementation of evidence-based responses that focus on the specific needs of these groups should not be postponed.

REFERENCES

- 1. Addis ME & Mahalik JR. 2003. Men, masculinity, and the contexts of help seeking. *American Psychologist*, 58(1): 5–14.
- 2. Ahmad A, Ahmad L, Mannell J. 2008. Responding to trauma during conflict: a case study of gender–based violence and traditional story-telling in Afghanistan. *Humanitarian Emergencies* 72 (Special issue Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises).
- 3. ALNAP. About. London, ALNAP.
- 4. All Survivors Project (ASP). 2018a. 'Destroyed from within': sexual violence against men and boys in Syria and Turkey. Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law, All Survivors Project.
- 5. All Survivors Project (ASP). 2018b. "I don't know who can help": men and boys facing sexual violence in Central Africa Republic. Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law, All Survivors Project.
- 6. All Survivors Project (ASP). 2018c. Report and outcome statement from the International workshop on "building knowledge to improve existing service responses for all survivors", 10 December.
- 7. Allon M. 2015. EMDR group therapy with women who were sexually assaulted in the Congo. J. EMDR Pract. Res, 9(1): 28–34.
- 8. All Survivors Project (ASP). 2017. Sexual violence against men and boys in Sri Lanka and Bosnia & Herzegovina. London, All Survivors Project.
- 9. Ahmad A, Ahmad L, Mannell J. 2008. Responding to trauma during conflict: a case study of gender-based violence and traditional story-telling in Afghanistan. *Humanitarian Emergencies* 72 (Special issue Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises).
- 10. Amone-P'Olak K. 2006. Mental states of adolescents exposed to war in Uganda: finding appropriate methods of rehabilitation. *Torture: quarterly journal on rehabilitation of torture victims and prevention of torture*, 16(2): 93–107.
- 11. Apperley H. 2015. Hidden victims: a call to action on sexual violence against men in conflict. *Medicine, Conflict and Survival*, 3;31(2): 92–9.
- Arsenijević, J, Burtscher, D, Ponthieu, A, Severy, N, Contenta, A, Moissaing, S, Argenziano, S, Zamatto, F, Zachariah, R, Ali, E, Venables, E. 2018. "I feel like I am less than other people": Health-related vulnerabilities of male migrants travelling alone on their journey to Europe. *Social Science & Medicine*, doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.05.038.
- Bass J, Annan J, Mclvor Murray S, Kaysen D. Griffiths S, Cetinoglu T, Wachter K, Murray LK, Bolton PA. 2013. Controlled Trial of Psychotherapy for Congolese Survivors of Sexual Violence. N Engl J Med, 368(23): 2182–2191.

- 14. Bass J, Mclvor Murray S, Mohammed TA, Bunn M, Gorman W, Ahmed AMA, Murray L, and Bolton P. 2016. A randomized controlled trial of a trauma-informed support, skills, and psychoeducation intervention for survivors of torture and related trauma in Kurdistan, Northern Iraq. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 4(3): 452–466.
- 15. Barron IG, Abdallah G, Smith P. 2013. Randomized control trial of a CBT trauma recovery program in Palestinian schools. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, Jul 1;18(4):306–21.
- Bennett C, Banda M, Miller L, Ciza J, Clemmer W, Linehan M, Streshley L. 2017. A comprehensive approach to providing services to survivors of sexual and gender-based violence in Democratic Republic of Congo: addressing more than physical trauma. *Development in Practice*, 27(5): 750–759.
- 17. Bergold J, Thomas S. 2012. Participatory research methods: A methodological approach in motion. *Historical Social Research/Historische Sozialforschung*, Jan 1: 191–222.
- 18. Bernath T, Gahongayire L. 2013. Final evaluation of Rwandan government and ONE UN ISANGE ONE stop Centre.
- 19. Betancourt TS. 2008. Youth FORWARD: scaling up an evidence-based mental health intervention in Sierra Leone. *Humanitarian Emergencies* 72 (Special issue Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises).
- 20. Blanchet K, Ramesh A, Frison S, Warren E, Hossain M, Smith J, Knight A, Post N, Lewis C, Woodward A, Dahab M. 2017. Evidence on public health interventions in humanitarian crises. *The Lancet*, 390(10109): 2287–96.
- 21. Blanchet K, Sistenich V, Ramesh A, Frison S, Warren E, Hossain M, Knight A, Lewis C, Smith J, Woodward A, Dahab M. 2013. *An evidence review of research on health interventions in humanitarian crises*. London: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.
- Bolton P, Bass JK, Zangana GA, Kamal T, McIvor Murray S, Kaysen D, Lejuez CW, Lindgren K, Pagoto S, Murray LK, Skavenski Van Wyk S, Ahmed AMA, Amin NM, Rosenblum M.
 2014a. A randomized controlled trial of mental health interventions for survivors of systematic violence in Kurdistan, Northern Iraq. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14: 360.
- 23. Bolton P, Lee C, Haroz EE, Murray L, Dorsey S, Robinson C, Ugueto AM, Bass J. 2014b. A Transdiagnostic community-based mental health treatment for comborbid disorders: development and outcomes of a randomized controlled trial among Burmese refugees in Thailand. *PLoS Med*, 11(11): e1001757.
- 24. Bullock CM, Beckson M. 2011. Male victims of sexual assault: Phenomenology, psychology, physiology. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law Online*, 1;39(2): 197–205.
- 25. Cargo M, Mercer SL. 2008. The value and challenges of participatory research: strengthening its practice. *Annu. Rev. Public Health*, 21(29): 325–50.

- Carlson ES. 2005. The hidden prevalence of male sexual assault during war: Observations on blunt trauma to the male genitals. *British Journal of Criminology*, 27;46(1): 16–25.
- 27. Carpenter RC. 2006. Recognising Gender-Based Violence Against Civilian Men and Boys in Conflict Situations. *Security Dialogues*, 37; 83.
- 28. Cason D, Grubaugh A, Resick P. 2002. Gender and PTSD treatment: Efficacy and effectiveness. In R Kimerling, P. Ouimette, & J. Wolfe (Eds.), *Gender and PTSD*: 305–334.
- 29. Chynoweth SK, Freccero J, Touquet H. 2017a. Sexual violence against men and boys in conflict and forced displacement: implications for the health sector. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 30;25(51): 90–4.
- 30. Chynoweth S. 2017b. We keep it in our heart: Sexual violence against men and boys: In the Syria crisis. Geneva, UNHCR.
- 31. Chynoweth, S. 2018. Caring for male and LGBTI sexual violence survivors: learning from local organisations. Syrians in displacement. *Forced Migration Review*, 57.
- 32. Dalkin SM, Greenhalgh J, Jones D, Cunningham B, Lhussier M. 2015. What's in a mechanism? Development of a key concept in realist evaluation. *Implementation Science*. Dec;10(1): 49.
- 33. Davies M, Rogers P. 2006. Perceptions of male victims in depicted sexual assaults: A review of the literature. *Aggression and Violent Behavior* Jul 1;11(4): 367–77.
- 34. DeHaven MJ, Hunter IB, Wilder L, Walton JW, Berry J. 2004. Health programs in faithbased organizations: are they effective?. *American Journal of Public Health* Jun;94(6): 1030–6.
- 35. de Jong JT, Berckmoes LH, Kohrt BA, Song SJ, Tol WA, Reis R. 2015. A public health approach to address the mental health burden of youth in situations of political violence and humanitarian emergencies. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *17*(7): 60.
- 36. Dolan C. 2014. Into the mainstream: Addressing sexual violence against men and boys in conflict. In Briefing paper prepared for a workshop held at the Overseas Development Institute, London, 14: 1–12.
- 37. Dolan C. 2014. Letting go of the gender binary: charting new pathways for humanitarian interventions and gender-based violence. *International Review of the Red Cross*, 96(894): 485–501.
- Donne MD, DeLuca J, Pleskach P, Bromson C, Mosley MP, Perez ET, Mathews SG, Stephenson R, Frye V. 2018. Barriers to and Facilitators of Help-Seeking Behavior Among Men Who Experience Sexual Violence. Am J Mens Health, 12(2): 189–201.
- 39. Doucet D, Denov M. 2012. The power of sweet words: Local forms of intervention with war-affected women in rural Sierra Leone. Int. Soc. Work [Internet]. Sage Publications, Ltd.; 55: 612–628.

- 40. Eloul L, Quosh C, Ajlani R, Avetisyan N, Barakat M, Barakat L, Ikram MW, Shammas L and Diekkamp, V. 2013. Inter-agency coordination of mental health and psychosocial support for refugees and people displaced in Syria. *Intervention*, *11*(3): 340–348.
- 41. El Kak F. 2015. Male survivors of sexual assault: A manual on evaluation and management for general practitioners. Beirut: MOSAIC.
- 42. Felmingham, KL Bryant, RA. 2012. Gender differences in the maintenance of response to cognitive behavior therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 80(2):196–200.
- 43. Freccero J, Harris L, Carnay M, Taylor C. 2011. *Responding to sexual violence: Community approaches*. Berkeley, Human Rights Center University of California, Berkeley.
- 44. Freccero J, Biswas D, Whiting A, Alrabe K, Seelinger KT. 2017. Sexual exploitation of unaccompanied migrant and refugee boys in Greece: Approaches to prevention. *PLoS Med*, 14(11).
- 45. Friedman RM. 1994. Psychodynamic group therapy for male survivors of sexual abuse. *Group*, *18*(4): 225–234.
- 46. García-Moreno C. 2014. Responding to sexual violence in conflict. *The Lancet*, 383(9934): 2023–2024.
- 47. Garnets L, Herek GM, Levy B. 1990.Violence and victimization of lesbians and gay men: Mental health consequences. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, Sep 5(3): 366–83.
- 48. Galdas PM, Cheater F, Marshall P. 2005. Men and health help-seeking behaviour: literature review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, Mar 1;49(6): 616–23.
- 49. GBV Area of Responsibility (AoR). 2015. Guidelines for Integrating Gender-Based Violence Interventions in Humanitarian Action.
- 50. Gold SD, Marx BP, & Lexington JM. 2007. Gay male sexual assault survivors: The relations among internalized homophobia, experiential avoidance, and psychological symptom severity. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(3): 549–562.
- 51. Gorris E. 2016. On sexual and gender-based violence: the case for wartime rape. Rights!
- 52. Greene C, Likindikoki SL, Mbwambo JKK, Tol WA. 2008. Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises: Improving humanitarian assistance across sectors through mental health and psychosocial support M. *Humanitarian Emergencies*, 72 (Special issue Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises).
- 53. Greene CM, Likindikoki SL, Mbwambo JKK, Tol WA. 2018. Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises: Improving humanitarian assistance across sectors through mental health and psychosocial support. *Humanitarian Exchange*; 72.
- 54. Grey R, Shepherd LJ. 2013. "Stop rape now?" Masculinity, responsibility, and conflict-related sexual violence. *Men and Masculinities*, *16*(1): 115–135.

- 55. Grubbs KM, Cheney AM, Fortney JC, Edlund, C, Han X, Dubbert P, Sullivan JG. 2014. The role of gender in moderating treatment outcome in collaborative care for anxiety. *Psychiatric Services*, 66(3): 265–271.
- 56. Gruber Z, Tuggey L. 2018. Caring for Boys Affected by Sexual Violence. London, Family for every child.
- 57. Haegerich TM, Hall JE. 2011. Violence and men's health: Understanding the etiological underpinnings of men's experiences with interpersonal violence. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 5(5): 440–453.
- 58. Hall BJ, Bolton PA, Annan J, Kaysen D, Robinette K, Cetinoglu T. 2014. The effect of cognitive therapy on structural social capital: results from a randomized controlled trial among sexual violence survivors in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Am. J. Public Health*, 104: 1680–6.
- 59. Havig K. 2008. The health care experiences of adult survivors of child sexual abuse: A systematic review of evidence on sensitive practice. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* Jan 9(1): 19–33.
- 60. Heitman K. 2017. Reductionism in the Dawn of Population Health. In: El-Sayed A, Galea S. *Systems science and population health.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- 61. Hémono, R, Relyea, B, Scott, J, Khaddaj, S, Douka, A, and Wringe, A. 2018. "The needs have clearly evolved as time has gone on": A qualitative study to explore stakeholders' perspectives on the health needs of Syrian refugees in Greece following the 2016 European Union-Turkey agreement. *Conflict and Health*, 12(1): 24.
- 62. Henry N. 2016. Theorizing wartime rape: Deconstructing gender, sexuality, and violence. *Gender & Society,* Feb 30(1): 44–56.
- 63. Herek GM, Gillis JR, Cogan JC. 1999. Psychological sequelae of hate-crime victimization among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, Dec 67(6): 945.
- 64. Hilhorst D, Porter H, Gordon R. 2018. Gender, sexuality, and violence in humanitarian crises. *Disasters*, Jan 42: S3–16.
- 65. Hossain M, Warren E. 2013. Systematic review of sexual and reproductive health and gender-based violence interventions in humanitarian crises. In: Blanchet K, Roberts B, editors. *An evidence reviews of research on health interventions in humanitarian crises*. London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine/ Harvard School of Public Health: 50–56.
- 66. House of Commons International Development Committee. 2018. Sexual exploitation and abuse in the aid sector: Eighth Report of Session 2017–19. London, House of Commons.

- 67. Hustache S, Moro M-R, Roptin J, Souza R, Gansou GM, Mbemba A, et al. 2009. Evaluation of psychological support for victims of sexual violence in a conflict setting: results from Brazzaville, Congo. *Int J Ment Health Syst.*, 3: 7.
- 68. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) Taskforce on Gender in Humanitarian Assistance. 2005. Guideline for Gender-based Violence Interventions in Humanitarian Settings: Focusing on prevention of and response to sexual violence in emergencies. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee.
- 69. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC). 2007. IASC Guidelines on Mental Health and Psychosocial Support in Emergency Settings. Geneva: IASC.
- 70. International Rescue Committee (IRC). 2006. Caring for Child Survivors of Sexual Abuse, Guidelines for health and psychosocial service providers in humanitarian setting.
- 71. International Rescue Committee (IRC). 2008. Clinical Care for Sexual Assault Survivors. New York: IRC.
- 72. International Rescue Committee (IRC). 2012. Evaluating the Effectiveness of the Clinical Care for Sexual Assault Survivors Multimedia Training Tool in Humanitarian Settings. New York, IRC.
- 73. Javaid A. 2016. Feminism, masculinity and male rape: bringing male rape 'out of the closet'. *Journal of Gender Studies*, May 3;25(3): 283–93.
- 74. Javaid, A. 2018. Male rape, masculinities, and sexualities. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice*, 52: 199–210.
- 75. Johnson JL, Oliffe JL, Kelly MT, Galdas P, Ogrodniczuk JS. 2012. Men's discourses of helpseeking in the context of depression. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 34: 345–361.
- 76. Johnson K, Asher J, Rosborough S, Raja A, Panjabi R, Beadling C, Lawry L. 2008. Association of combatant status and sexual violence with health and mental health outcomes in postconflict Liberia. *Jama*, Aug 13;300(6): 676–90.
- 77. Johnson K, Scott J, Rughita B, Kisielewski M, Asher J, Ong R, Lawry L. 2010. Association of sexual violence and human rights violations with physical and mental health in territories of the Eastern Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Jama*, Aug 4;304(5): 553–62.
- 78. Kessler RC, Sonnega A, Bromet E, Hughes M, and Nelson CB. 1995. Posttraumatic stress disorder in National Comorbidity Survey. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 52(12): 1048–1060.
- 79. Kiss L, Quinlan-Davidson M, Pasquero L, Ollé Tejero P, Hogg C, Theis J, Park A, Zimmerman C, Hossain M. 2020. Male and LGBT survivors of conflict-related sexual violence: a realist review of health interventions in low- and middle-income countries. *Conflict and Health*, 14: 11.
- 80. Kohli A, Makambo MT, Ramazani P, Zahiga I, Mbika B, Safari O, et al. 2012. A Congolese community-based health program for survivors of sexual violence. *Conflict and Health*, 6: 6.

- 81. Kohli A, Tosha M, Ramazani P, Safari O, Bachunguye R, Zahiga I, et al. 2013. Family and community rejection and a Congolese led mediation intervention to reintegrate rejected survivors of sexual violence in Eastern Democratic Republic of Congo. *Health Care for Women International*, 34(9): 736–756.
- 82. Krug EG, Dahlberg LL, Mercy JA, Zwi AB, Lozano R (eds). 2002. *World report on violence and health*. Geneva, WHO.
- Krumm S, Checchia C, Koesters M, Kilian R, Becker T. 2017. Men's views on depression: a systematic review and metasynthesis of qualitative research. *Psychopathology*, 50(2): 107–24.
- 84. Leatherman J. 2007. Sexual violence and armed conflict: Complex dynamics of revictimization. *International Journal of Peace Studies*, Apr 1:53–71.
- 85. Lekskes J, van Hooren S, de Beus J. 2007. Appraisal of psychosocial interventions in Liberia. *Intervention*, 5:18–26.
- 86. Loko Roka J, Van den Bergh R, Au S, De Plecker E, Zachariah R, et al. 2014. One Size Fits All? Standardised Provision of Care for Survivors of Sexual Violence in Conflict and Post-Conflict Areas in the Democratic Republic of Congo. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10).
- 87. Manneschmidt S, Griese K. 2009. Evaluating psychosocial group counselling with Afghan women: is this a useful intervention? *Torture*, 19(1): 41–50.
- 88. Martin SL, Young SK, Billings DL, Bross CC. 2007. Health Care-Based Interventions for Women Who Have Experienced Sexual Violence: A Review of the Literature. *Trauma Violence Abuse*, 8(1): 3–18.
- 89. Martineau T, McPake B, Theobald S, Raven J, Ensor T, Fustukian S, Hooton N. 2017. Leaving no one behind: lessons on rebuilding health systems in conflict-and crisisaffected states. *BMJ Global Health*, 2(2).
- 90. McGoldrick C. 2015. The state of conflicts today: Can humanitarian action adapt?. *International Review of the Red Cross,* Dec 97(900): 1179–208.
- 91. Mbeya DM, Kostandova N, Leichner A, Wener R. 2018. Integrating mental health into primary healthcare in the Central African Republic. *Humanitarian Emergencies*, 72 (Special issue Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises).
- 92. M'Cormack F. 2018. Prospects for Accessing Justice for Sexual Violence in Liberia's Hybrid System. *Stability: International Journal of Security and Development*, May 1;7(1).
- 93. McDonald S, Tijerino A. 2014. Male survivors of sexual abuse and assault: their experiences. Department of Justice Canada:, Research and Statistics Division.
- 94. McGlynn C, Westmarland, N. 2019. 'Kaleidoscopic justice: sexual violence and victimsurvivors' perceptions of justice.' *Social and Legal Studies*, 28 (2): 179–201.
- 95. Médecins Sans Frontières. 2014. Medical Protocol for Sexual Violence Care (2nd edition).

- 96. Mishori R, Anastatio, M, Naimer K, Varanasi S, Ferdowsian H, Abel D, and Chugh K. 2017. mJustice: Preliminary Development of a Mobile App for Medical-Forensic Documentation of Sexual Violence in Low-Resource Environments and Conflict Zones. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 5(1): 138–151.
- 97. Monteith LL, Gerber HR, Brownstone LM, Soberay KA, and Bahraini NH. 2019. The phenomenology of military sexual trauma among male veterans. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 20(1): 115–127.
- 98. Mooren TT, de Jong K, Kleber RJ, Ruvic J. 2003. The efficacy of a mental health program in Bosnia-Herzegovina: Impact on coping and general health. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(1): 57–69.
- 99. Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, Moore L, O'Cathain A, Tinati T, Wight D, Baird J. 2015. Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ*, Mar 19;350: h1258.
- 100. Myrttinen H, Khattab L, Naujoks J. 2017. Re-thinking hegemonic masculinities in conflictaffected contexts. *Critical Military Studies*, May 4;3(2): 103–19.
- 101. Myrttinen H, Khattab L, Maydaa C. 2017. 'Trust no one, beware of everyone': vulnerabilities of LGBTI refugees in Lebanon, 2017. (*In press*).
- 102. Myrttinen, H. 2018. From Pillars to Practice: pushing the boundaries of "Women, Peace and Security". London School of Economics Public Lecture, 29 November.
- 103. Murray LK, Dorsey S, Haroz E, Lee C, Alsiary MM, Haydary A, Weiss WM, Bolton P. 2014. A common elements treatment approach for adult mental health problems in low-and middle-income countries. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, May 1;21(2): 111–23.
- 104. Pacichana-Quinayáz SG, Osorio-Cuéllar GV, Bonilla-Escobar FJ, Fandiño-Losada A, Gutiérrez-Martínez MI. 2016. Common elements treatment approach based on a Cognitive Behavioral intervention: implementation in the Colombian Pacific. Ciencia & Saude Coletiva, 21: 1947–56.
- 105. Naimer K, Brown W, Mishori R. 2017. MediCapt in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: The Design, Development, and Deployment of Mobile Technology to Document Forensic Evidence of Sexual Violence. *Genocide Studies and Prevention: An International Journal*, 11(1): 25–35.
- 106. O'Callaghan P, McMullen J, Shannon C, Rafferty H, Black A. 2013. A randomized controlled trial of trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy for sexually exploited, war-affected congolese girls. J *Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 52: 359–69.
- 107. Onyango AO, Hampanda K. 2011. Social construction of masculinity and male survivors of wartime sexual violence: an analytical review. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 23: 237–247.
- 108. Oosterhoff P, Zwanikken P, Ketting E. 2004. Sexual torture of men in Croatia and other conflict situations: an open secret. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 12(23): 68–77.

- 109. Overseas Development Institute. 2001. *Politics and Humanitarian Aid: Debates, Dilemmas and Dissension.* London, ODI.
- 110. Pawson R, Greenhalgh T, Harvey G, Walshe K. 2005. Realist review a new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 10(1): 21–34.
- 111. Peel M, Mahtani A, Hinshelwood G, Forrest D. 2000. The sexual abuse of men in detention in Sri Lanka. *The Lancet*, 355(9220): 2069.
- 112. Philo Gorris EA. 2015. Invisible victims? Where are male victims of conflict-related sexual violence in international law and policy? *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4): 412–427.
- 113. Purgato M, Gastaldon C, Papola D, Van Ommeren M, Barbui C, Tol WA. 2018. Psychological therapies for the treatment of mental disorders in low-and middle-income countries affected by humanitarian crises. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (7).
- 114. Pyles L. 2007. The complexities of the religious response to domestic violence: Implications for faith-based initiatives. *Affilia*, Aug;22(3): 281–91.
- 115. Rasan Organisation. 2019. Crossing Iraqi Rainbow, 2018. Website accessed 13 Feb 2019.
- 116. Resick PA, Wachen JS, Dondanville KA, Pruiksma KE, Yarvis JS, Peterson AL, Mintz J, Borah EV, Brundige A, Hembree EA, Litz BT. 2017. Effect of group vs individual cognitive processing therapy in active-duty military seeking treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *7*4(1): 28–36.
- 117. Ritter AJ, Cole MJ. 1992. Men's issues: Gender role conflict and substance abuse. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, Apr 11(2): 163–7.
- 118. Romano E, De Luca RV. 2001. Male sexual abuse: A review of effects, abuse characteristics, and links with later psychological functioning. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 6: 55–78.
- 119. Rosenfield S. 2000. Gender and dimensions of the self: Implications for internalizing and externalizing behavior. In E. Frank (Ed.), *American Psychopathological Association series. Gender and its Effects on Psychopathology* (23–36). Arlington, VA, US: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- 120. Ruddy R, House A. 2005. Psychosocial interventions for conversion disorder. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Art. No.: CD005331.
- Rutter H, Savona N, Glonti K, Bibby J, Cummins S, Finegood DT, White M. 2017. The need for a complex systems model of evidence for public health. *The Lancet*, 390(10112): 2602–2604.
- 122. Russell W, Hilton A, Peel M, Loots L, Dartnall L. 2011. Briefing paper: Care and support of male survivors of conflict-related sexual violence. South Africa, SVRI.

- 123. Schafer A, Harper-Shehadeh M, Carswell K, van't Hof E, Hall J, Malik A, Au T, van Ommeren M. 2008. Scalable psychological interventions for people affected by adversity. *Humanitarian Emergencies*, *7*2 (Special issue Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian crises).
- 124. Schulz PM, Marovic-Johnson D, Huber LC. 2006. Cognitive-behavioral treatment of rapeand war-related posttraumatic stress disorder with a female, Bosnian refugee. *Clinical Case Studies*, 5(3): 191–208.
- 125. Schut M, van Baarle E. 2017. Dancing Boys and the Moral Dilemmas of Military Missions. International Security and Peacebuilding: Africa, the Middle East, and Europe, Jan 30: 77.
- 126. Seidler ZE, Dawes AJ, Rice SM, Oliffe JL, Dhillon HM. 2016. The role of masculinity in men's help-seeking for depression: a systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, Nov 1;49: 106–18.
- 127. Sivakumaran S. 2007. Sexual violence against men in armed conflict. *European Journal of International Law*, Apr 1;18(2): 253–76.
- 128. Smith JR, Ho LS, Langston A, Mankani N, Shivshanker A, Perera D. 2013. Clinical care for sexual assault survivors multimedia training: a mixed-methods study of effect on healthcare providers' attitudes, knowledge, confidence, and practice in humanitarian settings. *Conflict and Health*, 7;14.
- 129. Spangaro, J, Adogu, C, Ranmuthugala, G, Davies, GP, Steinacker, L, Zwi, A. 2013. What evidence exists for initiatives to reduce risk and incidence of sexual violence in armed conflict and other humanitarian crises? A systematic review. *PloS one*, *8*(5), p.e62600.
- 130. Spangaro J, Adogu C, Zwi AB, Ranmuthugala G, Davies GP. 2015. Mechanisms underpinning interventions to reduce sexual violence in armed conflict: A realistinformed systematic review. *Conflict and Health*, Dec 9(1) :19.
- 131. Spiegel PB, Checchi F, Colombo S, Paik, E. 2010. Health-care needs of people affected by conflict: future trends and changing frameworks. *The Lancet*, *375*(9711): 341–345.
- Street AE, Dardis CM. 2018. Using a social construction of gender lens to understand gender differences in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 66: 97–105.
- 133. Tanabe M, Robinson K, Lee CI, Leigh JA, Htoo EM, Integer N, et al. 2013. Piloting community-based medical care for survivors of sexual assault in conflict-affected Karen state of eastern Burma. *Conflict and Health*, 7: 12.
- 134. Teram E, Stalker C, Hovey A, Candice S, Lasiuk, G. 2006. Towards male centric communication: sensitising health professionals to the realities of male childhood sexual abuse survivors. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 2006; 27(5): 499–517.
- 135. Tomkins A, Duff J, Fitzgibbon A, Karam A, Mills E. J, Munnings, K, Yugi P. 2015. Controversies in faith and health care. *The Lancet*, 386(10005): 1776–1785.

- 136. The Population Health and Development (PHD) Group Pvt. Ltd. 2012. Evaluation Report: Ensuring recognition of sexual violence as a tool of conflict in the Nepal peace building process through documentation and provision of comprehensive services to women and girl survivors. Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Tol WA, Barbui C, Galappatti A, Silove D, Betancourt TS, Souza R, Golaz A, Van Ommeren M. 2011. Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian settings: linking practice and research. *The Lancet*, Oct 29;378(9802): 1581–91.
- 138. Tol WA, Stavrou V, Greene MC, Mergenthaler C, Van Ommeren M, Moreno CG. 2013. Sexual and gender-based violence in areas of armed conflict: a systematic review of mental health and psychosocial support interventions. *Conflict and Health*, Dec 7(1): 16.
- 139. Tol WA, Purgato M, Bass JK, Galappatti A, Eaton W. 2015. Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian settings: a public mental health perspective. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, Dec;24(6): 484–94.
- 140. Tol WA, Barbui C, Galappatti A, Silove D, Betancourt TS, Souza R, Golaz A, van Ommeren M. 2014. Mental health and psychosocial support in Humanitarian Settings. In: Patel V et al. *Global Mental Health*. Oxford University Press.
- 141. Trick L, Watkins E, Windeatt S, Dickens C. 2016. The association of perseverative negative thinking with depression, anxiety, and emotional distress in people with long term conditions: A systematic review. *J Psychosom Res*, 91: 89–101.
- 142. Turchik JA, Edwards KM. 2012. Myths about male rape: A literature review. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, Apr 13(2): 211.
- 143. Turner S, Gorst-Unsworth C. 1990. Psychological sequelae of torture: A descriptive model. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, Oct 157(4): 475–80.
- 144. United Nations. 2018. Report of the Secretary General on Conflict-Related Sexual Violence: S/2018/250. Geneva, NYC.
- 145. United Nations. 2019. Conflict-Related Sexual Violence: Report of the Secretary General S/2019/280. Geneva, NYC.
- 146. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2003. Sexual and Gender-Based Violence against Refugees, Returnees, and Internally Displaced Persons; Guidelines for Prevention and Response. Geneva, UNHCR.
- 147. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2012. Working with Men and Boy Survivors of Sexual and Gender-based Violence in Forced Displacement. Geneva: UNHCR.
- 148. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2011. Promoting gender equality: an equity approach to programming. Operational Guidance Overview in Briefing. NYC, UNICEF.
- 149. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), International Rescue Committee (IRC). 2012. Caring for Child Survivors of Sexual Abuse: Guidelines for health and psychosocial service providers in humanitarian settings. New York, UNICEF.

- 150. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2015. Ending violence and discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people. NYC, UNICEF.
- 151. United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). 2015. Minimum Standards for Prevention and Response to Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies. NYC, UNFPA.
- 152. United States Agency for International Development (USAID). 2014. Toolkit for Monitoring and Evaluating Gender-Based Violence Interventions Along the Relief to Development Continuum.
- 153. Van der Kolk BA. 1994. The body keeps the score: Memory and the evolving psychobiology of posttraumatic stress. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, Jan 1;1(5): 253–65.
- 154. Voelkel E, Pukay-Martin ND, Walter KH, Chard KM. 2015. Effectiveness of cognitive processing therapy for male and female US veterans with and without military sexual trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, Jun;28(3): 174–82.
- 155. Wade D, Varker T, Kartal D, Hetrick S, O'Donnell M, Forbes D. 2016. Gender difference in outcomes following trauma-focused interventions for posttraumatic stress disorder: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy,* May 8(3): 356.
- 156. Wagner B, Schulz W, Knaevelsrud C. 2012. Efficacy of an internet-based intervention for posttraumatic stress disorder in Iraq: A pilot study. *Psychiatry Research*, 195: 85–88.
- 157. Wahto R, Swift JK. 2016. Labels, gender-role conflict, stigma, and attitudes toward seeking psychological help in men. *American Journal of Men's Health*, May 10(3): 181–91.
- 158. Walstrom P, Operario D, Zlotnick C, Mutimura E, Benekigeri C, Cohen MH. 2013. "I think my future will be better than my past": Examining support group influence on the mental health of HIV-infected Rwandan women. *Glob Public Health*, 8(1): 90–105.
- 159. Watson HJ, Nathan PR. 2008. Role of gender in depressive disorder outcome for individual and group cognitive-behavioral treatment. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64: 1323–1337.
- 160. Warren E, Post N, Hossain M, Blanchet K, Roberts B. 2015. Systematic review of the evidence on the effectiveness of sexual and reproductive health in humanitarian crises. *BMJ Open* 5: e008226.
- Wessells M, van Ommeren M. 2008. Developing inter-agency guidelines on mental health and psychosocial support in emergency settings. *Intervention*, Nov 1;6(3): 199– 218.
- 162. Wessells MG. 2008. Do no harm: Challenges in organizing psychosocial support to displaced people in emergency settings. *Refuge: Canada's Journal on Refugees*, Apr 1;25(1): 6–14.
- 163. Wchan Organization. 2016. Annual report: Rebuilding Lives After Torture. Sulaymaniyah, Wchan.

- 164. Weiss WM, Murray LK, Zangana GAS, Mahmooth Z, Kaysen D, Dorsey S, et al. 2015. Community-based mental health treatments for survivors of torture and militant attacks in Southern Iraq: a randomized control trial. *BMC* Psychiatry, 15: 249.
- 165. Wong G, Greenhalgh T, Westhorp G, Buckingham J, Pawson R. 2013. RAMSES publication standards: realist syntheses. *BMC* Medicine, 11: 21.
- 166. World Bank. 2009. Gender-Based Violence, Health, and the role of the Health Sector. Washington DC, World Bank.
- 167. World Health Organization (WHO). 2003. Guidelines for medico-legal care of victims of sexual violence. Geneva: WHO.
- 168. World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2004. Clinical Management of Rape Survivors - Developing protocols for use with refugees and internally displaced persons.
- 169. World Health Organisation (WHO). 2013. Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women: WHO clinical and policy guidelines.
- 170. World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), Stop Rape Now (SRN). 2015. Strengthening the medico-legal response to sexual violence.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledge expert contributions made by representatives from leading international humanitarian organisations who participated in the international workshop held in London in October 2018 and in the experts meeting held in Geneva in March 2019.

The authors are grateful for the support of the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC), without which this work would not have been possible.

ALL SURVIVORS PROJECT

@allsurvivorspro allsurvivorsproject.org